

Medical Assistance in Dying (MAiD) Assessments for People with Complex Chronic Conditions

February 2023

The information and commentary in this publication is not offered as legal advice. For CAMAP's full legal disclaimer please visit https://camapcanada.ca/disclaimer/



Canadian Association of MAiD Assessors and Providers (CAMAP)

The Canadian Association of MAiD Assessors and Providers (CAMAP) is a unique association of professionals involved in the assessment and provision of MAiD in Canada. Founded in 2016, their mission is to support MAiD assessors and providers in their work, educate the public and the health care community about MAiD, and to provide leadership on determining the highest standards and guidelines of practice in MAiD provision. CAMAP members strive to achieve the highest level of care for our patients and to model this care for a national and international audience. They aim to work with governments in Canada at all levels, provincial medical and nursing licensing bodies, national medical and nursing colleges, national professional groups, medical and nursing, and national advocacy groups.

Process

Medical Assistance in Dying (MAiD) Assessments for People with Complex Chronic Conditions (CCCs) was first drafted by the CAMAP Working Group on Complex Chronic Conditions. The Working Group included MAiD providers who specialize in (1) psychiatry, (2) treatment of chronic pain, and (3) chronic complex conditions. The CAMAP Committee on Standards and Guidelines suggested amendments to this initial draft which were incorporated by the Working Group. The next draft was circulated to national stakeholders for comment and further amendments were made by the Working Group. The resultant draft was re-examined by the Committee on Standards and Guidelines and the resulting final draft has been approved by the CAMAP Board of Directors for publication on the CAMAP website. It is a working document and will be amended as experience is gained in the provision of MAiD to patients with CCCs and those whose natural death is not reasonably foreseeable.

Terminology

MAiD Provider or Provider: the physician or nurse practitioner who will carry out MAiD if the person is found eligible and chooses to have MAiD.

Assessor: the other physician or nurse practitioner who determines the eligibility of the person for MAiD.

Assessors: in almost all cases, this means the Provider and the Assessor together. On occasion it may mean two or more physicians or nurse practitioners who have assessed the patient other than the Provider. The context will make it clear if this is the meaning.

Clinician: any physician or nurse practitioner. This term, therefore, includes a physician or nurse practitioner discussing MAiD with a person, whether or not the clinician will be one of the Assessors.

It should be noted that in some literature, the Assessor is referred to as the "second assessor". This term is not used here as there is no requirement in the law that the Assessor must assess the person only after the Provider has done so.



Table of Contents

Executive summary	3
Introduction	4
Treatment of Complex Chronic Conditions	6
Assessment	6
A general approach to interviewing patients	7
Gathering evidence	8
Documentation	10
About the authors	12
References	14
Appendix A	23
Complex Chronic Conditions (CCCs)	23
Central Sensitization	23
Chronic Pain Syndromes (CPSs)	23
Specific CPSs	
A. Burning Mouth Syndrome (BMS)	
B Fibromyalgia (FM) C. Vulvodynia	
Chronic Lyme Disease (CLD)	29
Myalgic Encephalomyelitis/Chronic Fatigue Syndrome (ME/CFS)	
Appendix B	
General treatments of CCCs	33
Appendix C	36
Canadian law	36

Executive summary

Purpose

To provide information and tools to help clinicians assess eligibility for medical assistance in dying (MAiD) and fulfill procedural safeguards for individuals with complex chronic conditions.

Note: This document does not constitute legal advice.

Key Recommendations

- 1. Clinicians should be aware that amendments made to Canada's assisted dying legislation in March 2021 by the passing of Bill C-7 changed eligibility criteria in two ways that have a potential impact on individuals with complex chronic conditions. First, C-7 removed the requirement that a person must have a reasonably foreseeable natural death (RFND). Since most individuals with CCCs do not have an RFND, most were previously ineligible. Many more individuals with CCCs may now be eligible. Second, C-7 excluded mental illness from the criterion of serious and incurable illness, disease, or disability. Therefore if, in the clinical judgement of the assessors, a person's CCCs is a mental illness and is their sole underlying medical condition, the person is ineligible for MAiD (until the law changes).
- 2. People with CCCs often feel marginalized and disregarded by the health care system. Clinicians should approach all patients with an open mind and consider the best environment for any discussion to help the patient feel at ease.
- 3. During an assessment for eligibility for MAiD, a clinician should gather evidence by investigating (1) whether a natural death has become reasonably foreseeable and (2) whether all appropriate investigations have been done to rule out curable illness, disease, or disability, reversible decline in capability, and suffering that can be relieved by means acceptable to the person. For those cases where natural death is not reasonably foreseeable, a clinician should gather evidence about whether the patient has (3) been informed of the means available to relieve their suffering, (4) been offered consultations with relevant professionals who provide those services or that care, and (5) given serious consideration to the reasonable and available means of alleviating their suffering.
- 5. Documentation should include the reasons the assessors are of the opinion that all the eligibility criteria have been met and that the provider is of the opinion that the relevant procedural safeguards have been satisfied. For patients who do not have a RFND, the documentation should indicate which assessor has expertise in the condition causing the person's suffering, which is a requirement of the law. If neither assessor has this expertise, it should confirm that a medical or nurse practitioner with the necessary expertise was consulted and that their opinion was shared between the assessors. Documentation should expressly state that the two assessors agree with the patient that the patient has given serious consideration to the reasonable and available means of alleviating their suffering.
- 6. Clinicians should be aware of any College Practice Standards that address the issue of whether one or both assessors need to be specialists or have expertise in the primary motivating condition for the request. This is particularly relevant to complex track two cases in which there is uncertainty regarding incurability and irreversibility. In the absence of specific College guidance, clinicians should ensure that they are operating within their

scope of practice (i.e., they have sufficient competencies, training, experience, and qualifications to conduct an assessment for eligibility for MAiD in the particular circumstances of the patient either independently or following supplemental consultation with other clinicians).

Introduction

In this paper, clinicians who carry out eligibility assessments for MAiD are provided with information and tools which may help with the assessment of people with CCCs such as Myalgic Encephalomyelitis/Chronic Fatigue Syndrome (ME/CFS), Chronic Pain Syndromes (CPSs), and Fibromyalgia (FM).

The legal requirements for MAiD are outlined. Patients must have a serious and incurable illness, disease or disability, be in an advanced state of irreversible decline in capability and have enduring and intolerable suffering that cannot be relieved by any means acceptable to them.

Basic information on several CCCs is given along with references. Guidelines to consider when carrying out MAiD assessments of persons with these conditions are presented. These guidelines are of particular importance since the passage of Bill C-7 on March 17, 2021, as it is no longer required that patients seeking eligibility for MAiD have a RFND. Many people with a CCCs do not have an RFND. It should be noted that this paper concerns only patients with CCCs. It does not cover all patients who do not have an RFND.

It is not uncommon that patients with CCCs have concurrent mental health conditions. With the passage of Bill C-7, the Criminal Code contains an explicit exclusion from eligibility for MAiD for individuals whose *sole* underlying medical condition is a mental illness (this exclusion was scheduled to be lifted in March 2023 but the timing on the lifting is now uncertain). The issue of *concurrent* mental illness is addressed below.

Appendix A provides basic information about some CCCs including diagnostic criteria, epidemiology, possible etiologies, physiological changes, and prognosis, or natural history. It is a representative but not exhaustive list of such conditions. It provides a framework to help assessors approach patients with these conditions.

Challenges

There are three main challenges with respect to assessing people with CCCs for MAiD under Canadian law.

1. Whether complex chronic conditions are themselves "mental illnesses"

There is a lack of consensus among experts as to whether CCCs are psychiatric or neurobiological in origin. There is additionally a lack of consensus as to whether any such distinction exists at all. The law does not define "mental illness" although it is clear that not everything in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders 5th Edition (DSM-5) is to be considered a mental illness for the purposes of excluding individuals from MAiD eligibility. For example, the DSM-5 includes the diagnoses of dementia and intellectual disability, yet the government was clear that it did not intend for these patients to be said to have a "mental illness" for the purposes of the mental illness exclusion. In its response to the Truchon case the government stated:



Despite the absence of a single clear definition of mental illness, in the context of Canadian discussions on MAID, this term has come to be understood as generally referring to those conditions which are primarily within the domain of psychiatry, and which raise specific types of concerns as set out above, when it comes to eligibility for MAID. In the context of the federal MAID legislation, the term 'mental illness' would not include neurocognitive or neurodevelopmental disorders, or other conditions that may affect cognitive abilities, such as dementias, autism spectrum disorders or intellectual disabilities, which may be treated by specialties other than psychiatry (such as neurology for neurodegenerative or neurodevelopmental conditions) or specialties outside of medicine (such as education specialists for intellectual disabilities) and do not raise the specific concerns outlined above" (1).

It is therefore up to the judgement of the assessors to determine, on a case-by-case basis, whether the person's underlying serious and incurable illness, disease, or disability is a mental illness or not. If the clinicians involved are of the opinion that it is, then, until such time as the exclusion of those with mental illness is lifted, the person should be found to be ineligible for MAiD unless they have a second serious and incurable illness, disease, or disability that is not a mental illness, and which might qualify them for MAiD.

2. The "incurable" and "irreversible" aspects of the "grievous and irremediable" criterion

Since there are no accepted biomarkers to diagnose these CCCs, only the history and clinical symptomatology can be used to make a diagnosis. Chronic complex conditions are heterogenous, sometimes making the assessment of prognosis or remediability more difficult. While full cure may be difficult or impossible to achieve, there are many treatments of varying effectiveness. The responsibility of assessors is to determine whether the patient has been made aware of the treatment options available to relieve their suffering and whether the patient has given serious consideration to them, as the law requires.

Although the May 2022 report by the Expert Panel on MAiD and Mental Illness does not relate to CCCs directly, the comments on incurability are useful here:

"MAiD assessors should establish incurability with reference to treatment attempts made up to that point, outcomes of those treatments, and severity and duration of illness, disease, or disability.

"It is not possible to provide fixed rules for how many treatment attempts, how many kinds of treatments, and over what period of time as this will vary according to the nature and severity of medical conditions the person has and their overall health status. This must be assessed on a case-by-case basis."

3. The requirement that the person be "capable of making decisions with respect to their health"

There are often concurrent mental health disorders, such as post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), anxiety, or depression in people diagnosed with CCCs. These may compromise decision-making capacity and/or make the assessment of capacity challenging. It is important to emphasize that having a mental health disorder does not mean that a person necessarily lacks capacity to make their own health care decisions – indeed, most often such patients have capacity. Furthermore, under Canadian law, patients are presumed to be capable. Clinicians must start from the presumption that the person requesting MAiD is capable but should explore and question this



presumption whenever there are reasonable grounds to think otherwise.

Treatment of Complex Chronic Conditions

By definition, all of these conditions have persisted, usually for a long time, despite any treatment provided thus far. It is important that MAiD assessors are aware of treatments for CCCs in general.

Individuals with CCCs may experience high levels of physiological and psychological distress. Some of this distress is a reaction to their physical suffering and to the losses they have experienced (career, independence, etc.). Some of their distress may be due to a history of trauma, particularly adverse childhood experiences. Each condition and each patient is unique, but as well as providing some details of common treatments available for specific CCCs (see Appendix A), this paper presents information on general treatments applicable to many CCCs (see Appendix B).

Assessment

All patients being assessed for MAiD eligibility must satisfy each of the legal criteria. They must have a serious and incurable illness, disease, or disability, be in an advanced state of irreversible decline in capability, and have enduring and intolerable suffering that cannot be relieved by means acceptable to them. Of note, in particular, is the importance of the requirement for the patient to be in an advanced state of irreversible decline in capability. It is for the assessors to decide whether this criterion has been satisfied. For patients with an RFND, it is common for them to already have developed such an advanced state of decline in capability that examination of this criterion is simple. For some patients who do not have an RFND, however, an advanced state of decline in capability may be less obvious. Assessors might consider assessing an individual's current capability in relation to their capability prior to the onset of their chronic illness. Some patients may be declining in their capability and others may be living in a state of decline. A patient who previously ran marathons and who can now only walk a mile might perhaps be considered to have developed an advanced state of decline whereas a person who previously would never have attempted to walk more than a few miles might not, while exhibiting the same degree of restriction of mobility. Similarly, a person who was once a voracious reader but who now cannot read, or a person who was multilingual but who can now speak only one language might reasonably be regarded as being in an advanced state of irreversible decline in capability especially if their current state is a significant factor contributing to their intolerable suffering. Also, of note is the fact that "suffering" under the Criminal Code is subjective - the person decides whether their suffering is intolerable to them. Assessors in turn must be of the opinion that it is the person's illness, disease, or disability, or advanced state of decline in capability that is the cause of the person's suffering and assessors should explore the consistency of the person's assessment of their suffering with the person's affect, expressed wishes over time, and life narrative.

<u>Assessor competencies, training, experience, and qualifications (scope of practice) regarding MAiD assessments</u>

Any assessment of eligibility for MAiD requires great care. The assessment of some patients with CCCs can be extremely difficult and experience in MAiD assessments in such cases is particularly advantageous.



Not all MAiD assessors will feel that they have the necessary competencies, training, experience, and qualifications to assess patients with the most challenging CCCs. If, after carrying out a pre-assessment chart review of a case that has been referred to them, it is clear to the assessor that a MAiD assessment of the patient falls outside their scope of practice and therefore should be assessed by, e.g., a more experienced MAiD clinician, then the referral should be returned to the referring physician or program promptly with an explanation to this effect.

That said, a MAID assessor need not have training, experience, and qualifications in every illness encountered in the patients for whom they are assessing eligibility for MAiD (e.g., an anesthesiologist may be able to assess MAiD eligibility for a person with multiple sclerosis with proper background information and supplemental consultations). Assessors need to be able to use their professional knowledge and skills to research the condition and gather relevant information, and to know when to consult one or more physicians or nurse practitioners to inform their assessment, as is true in all situations of clinical practice. This is consistent, for example, with the approach taken in situations within which a primary care clinician would seek to fill gaps while treating a patient with an unfamiliar diagnosis. Where that is not possible, clinicians need to exercise their professional obligation to detect when a particular assessment lies outside their scope of practice and to refer the case to another clinician or program.

The issue of the procedural safeguard requiring expertise in the condition that is causing the person's suffering is addressed in the section *Gathering evidence – 3.* Consultation with medical or nurse practitioners with expertise below.

A General Approach to Interviewing Patients

Very often, people with CCCs feel marginalized and disregarded by the health care system. They have often been labelled as Emergency Room "frequent flyers", drug seekers, alcoholics, attention seekers, etc. The assessors should enter the interview with an open mind and trauma-informed approach. A MAiD assessment can be a therapeutic and validating experience for any applicant if they feel that they are being treated fairly, with respect and dignity. Attention to an appropriate environment should be considered e.g., at the patient's home instead of a doctor's office. The applicant should be asked if they want a family member or friend present for parts of the interview. The interview must not be rushed. Adequate time should be reserved for it. The patient might need to take small breaks or have multiple shorter interactions. Although interviews may be done virtually in most jurisdictions, it is preferable to do interviews in person, if practicable.

The assessors should be as familiar as possible about case details. If consent has been given, it is useful to review clinical records ahead of time and to talk with any involved or treating health care practitioners, family, and caregivers. Having a broad understanding ahead of time will be an asset. Alternatively, it may be appropriate to tell the patient it will be necessary to gather additional information in between two or more interviews held over a period of time.

It is important at some point for the assessors to review all available therapeutic options and to determine whether the patient has been made aware of these options. Sometimes therapeutic options need to be researched between interviews leading to supplemental discussion.

Finally, the patient must be informed of the assessors' conclusion. If eligibility is not found, then an explanation must be given. If the patient is found not to be eligible, they should be informed of the process for requesting assessment by another MAiD clinician.

Comorbid mental health conditions

People with chronic complex health conditions very often have comorbid mental health conditions. This association is multidirectional as mental health conditions such as anxiety, depression, and suicidal ideation can variably predate, present simultaneously, or follow the diagnosis of the chronic complex health condition. However, it is important to remember that with the advance of medical knowledge, many conditions not previously understood to have a physical etiology were attributed to a mental health condition such as "hysteria", resulting in much stigmatization (2). For example, multiple sclerosis and functional neurological disorder are sometimes misdiagnosed as each other. With ongoing research into the etiology of many of these chronic physical syndromes, the evidence increasingly suggests that physical mechanisms either acting singly or in combination with other factors are strong factors in their development. In particular, there is now much better understanding of the complex interplay between peripheral and central neurophysiological mechanisms, so a variety of authors have considered the DSM-5 to over-psychologize, for example, people with chronic pain syndrome, leading to unnecessary stigma and damage to the therapeutic relationship between patient and healthcare provider (3).

In summary, the comorbidity between complex chronic health conditions and mental health conditions is considerable, varies between different conditions, and often requires complex interventions to address these multiple disorders. It is therefore not possible in this document to cover the treatment of every permutation of complex chronic health conditions and comorbid mental health conditions. However, assessors are advised to consider involving multidisciplinary teams including mental health practitioners and other therapies such as physical therapy, occupational therapy, speech therapy and social work, which are often necessary to maximize the functioning and quality of life of people with these complicated comorbidities.

Gathering Evidence

1. Has the diagnosis been established?

For some conditions, such as Lyme disease or degenerative disc disease, there are specific objective tests that can be undertaken. However, most CCCs have diagnostic criteria that primarily concern history and symptoms. Unlike conditions such as metastatic cancer, it is not the objective diagnosis of a CCCs with imaging, lab reports, etc. that is necessary to determine the existence of the eligibility criterion of a serious and incurable illness, disease, or disability, but instead the evidence provided by the symptoms and the history of progression, lack of response to treatment, and of loss of function or developing frailty. Examining these is necessary when exploring treatment options or the management of symptoms, but for MAiD assessment, it is also important to document issues such as increasing cachexia with weight records, or frailty with an objective instrument like the Clinical Frailty Scale (4,5) and to obtain corroboration from others about the need for caregivers to assist with activities of daily living. Some people have several diagnoses, both physical and psychiatric. Others do not have a firm diagnosis. It is necessary to rule out other treatable conditions because there can be misdiagnoses. It is not necessary for all clinicians involved previously or currently to agree as to the patient's precise diagnostic label, only that the assessors are satisfied that the patient has a serious and incurable illness, disease, or disability (which, until the legislation changes, is not a mental illness), is in an advanced state of irreversible

camapcanada.ca

e info@camapcanada.ca

decline in capability, and that they have identified the cause(s) and extent of the patient's suffering.

2. Has the patient been offered reasonable and available treatments?

Since CCCs are rarely curable, the assessors are searching for evidence of the patient having been offered reasonable and available means to manage their symptoms. In the case of patients who do not have an RFND, the assessors must agree that the patient has given serious consideration to the reasonable and available means of alleviating their suffering. This is where the involvement of a clinician with expertise in the condition causing the patient's suffering is most impactful (whether one or both assessors or a consultant). Ideally, there should have been a multi-disciplinary approach to treatment trials. Clinicians frequently involved may include psychiatrists, physiatrists, psychologists and/or counsellors, physiotherapists, and occupational therapists. Various specific and general treatment modalities are discussed in the appendices.

3. Consultation with medical or nurse practitioners with expertise

Current legislation requires that for a patient without an RFND, if neither of the MAiD assessors has expertise in the condition causing the patient's suffering, then a medical or nurse practitioner who has such expertise must be consulted. It is essential to note that the clinician consulted is not being asked to do a MAiD assessment, nor do they necessarily have to opine on any of the eligibility criteria. Rather, they are being consulted with respect to the condition that is causing the person's suffering, specifically with respect to diagnosis, prognosis, and the reasonable and available treatment options.

The expertise must be in the condition causing intolerable suffering. Therefore, the clinician should have expertise in:

• 1a) the patient's serious illness, disease, or disability so that they can deem whether it is incurable

and/or

- 1b) the patient's decline in capability so that they can deem whether it is irreversible and
- 2) the cause(s) of the patient's suffering so that they can be sure that all potential treatments have been offered to the patient and seriously considered by them.

It is for an assessor to decide if they have sufficient expertise in the patient's condition including whether they are aware of all reasonable and available approaches to the relief of suffering in the case they are assessing. The possibility of the existence of therapeutic approaches unknown to the assessors must always be borne in mind. If neither assessor has the required expertise, they must consult a medical or nurse practitioner with that expertise.

To gather adequate information, the assessors may seek the advice of an allied professional but cannot record them as the person with expertise in the documentation since the law's requirement is for a "medical or nurse practitioner who has that expertise."

The opinion of the clinician with expertise must be shared between the assessors.

The responsibility for confirming that one of the two assessors has the necessary expertise falls on the clinician who will provide the assisted death. If the practitioner who intends to be the provider of MAiD in a particular case does not have the necessary expertise in the condition that is causing



the patient's suffering, they must ensure that either the other assessor has this expertise or a separate practitioner with expertise has been consulted. A simple assertion by the other assessor that they have the expertise should not necessarily satisfy the MAiD provider particularly if the condition is especially complex or the other assessor is not known personally or professionally by the provider.

While the patient is not required to agree to the consultation with a clinician with expertise other than the two assessors, if the patient refuses, the MAiD assessors will not be able to proceed as it will not be possible to meet the procedural safeguard set out in the legislation.

Reports from a chronic pain clinic or a CCCs clinic documenting adequate investigation to rule out conditions that are reversible using treatments acceptable to the patient and the offering of evidence-based treatment are useful but not a requirement. Similarly, reports from medical specialists such as internists, neurologists, and psychiatrists may be especially helpful but are not mandatory if at least one of the assessors is satisfied that they have the required expertise.

Documentation

For all patients, it is necessary to document that their request is voluntary; that their consent to MAiD is informed, and that they have been given information about the means available to relieve their suffering, including palliative care; that they are eligible for health services funded by a government in Canada; and that they are at least 18 years of age.

- 1. For patients whose natural death is reasonably foreseeable:
 - I. Document their serious and incurable illness, disease, or disability including the investigations and treatments they have tried or been offered, including any discussion around treatments that the patient has declined (serious and incurable illness, disease, or disability).
 - II. Document their deterioration including, as appropriate, frailty, weight loss, care requirements, functional losses, etc., (advanced state of irreversible decline in capability).
 - III. Document that their suffering is enduring, intolerable to them, and cannot be relieved by means acceptable to them.
 - IV. Document that the patient's natural death is reasonably foreseeable, i.e., they are on a trajectory towards death (RFND).
 - V. Document the patient's ability to understand their condition and their prognosis, the treatments available, and MAiD (capacity).
- 2. For patients whose natural death is not reasonably foreseeable
 - I. All the above, except the patient, need not be on a trajectory towards death.



- II. Document that one of the assessors has the expertise required or that another clinician with expertise was consulted and that the results of that consultation were shared with both assessors.
- III. Document that the patient has been informed of all the means available to relieve their suffering including, where appropriate, counselling services, mental health and disability support services, community services, and palliative care, and has been offered consultations with relevant professionals, and that both assessors agree the patient has given serious consideration to the reasonable and available means of relieving their suffering.

About the Authors

Ellen Wiebe, MD. Dr. Wiebe is a Clinical Professor in the Department of Family Practice at the University of British Columbia. After 30 years of full-service family practice, she now restricts her practice to women's health and assisted death. She is the Medical Director of Willow Clinic in Vancouver and a board member with the Canadian Association of MAiD Assessors and Providers (CAMAP).

Emily Hawse. Ms. Hawse is a medical student at the University of British Columbia. This is the first research project about MAiD that she has been involved in. She aspires to one day be a family physician in Prince George, British Columbia.

Eric Thomas. Dr. Thomas is a family doctor with expertise in treating chronic pain. He has been a MAiD assessor and provider since 2016. He serves a wide area in Southwest Ontario with Stratford as the home base. He has been a Palliative Care provider since February 2017 which includes investigation and management of chronic and complex cases and is a Physician Lead for the Huron Perth Palliative Care Outreach Team.

Jocelyn Downie, CM FRSC FCAHS SJD. Dr. Downie is a Professor in the Faculties of Law and Medicine at Dalhousie University. Her work on end-of-life law and policy includes: Special Advisor to the Canadian Senate Committee on Euthanasia and Assisted Suicide; author of *Dying Justice: A Case for the Decriminalizing Euthanasia and Assisted Suicide in Canada*; and member of the Royal Society of Canada Expert Panel on End-of-Life Decision-Making, the plaintiffs' legal team in *Carter v. Canada (Attorney General)*, the Provincial-Territorial Expert Advisory Group on Physician-Assisted Dying, and the Canadian Council of Academies Expert Panel on MAiD.

Laura B. Spiegel, MA MCC CMC RCC CCC SEP. Ms. Spiegel is a Counselling Therapist, Master Certified Coach, and Somatic Therapist. Her specialty is in the trauma domain including nervous system regulation. In her private practice, Laura counsels clients who are navigating decisions regarding end-of-life. She is involved with MAiD research as an interviewer and collaborator.

Lilian Thorpe, MD PhD FRCPC. Dr. Thorpe is a geriatric psychiatrist in the Saskatchewan Health Authority and professor, departments of Community Health & Epidemiology and Psychiatry. She was a member of the (former) Saskatoon Health Region committee which developed the MAiD policy and has been involved with approximately 700 assessments and/or clinical MAiD provisions throughout the province since 2016. She is also a member of the CAMAP working group in developing curriculum for assessing capacity in patients with comorbid mental illness applying for MAiD.

Michaela Kelly, BA BSc MSc. Ms. Kelly is a MAiD researcher and medical student at the University of British Columbia. She studied gender and public health in her undergraduate studies at Quest University and graduated with an MSc in Epidemiology through the University of London. She has been involved in MAiD research since 2016.

Spencer Cleave, MD CCFP, is a Family Physician with training in Psychotherapy and the Medical Director of the High-Complexity Care Team in Victoria, BC. The team is a multidisciplinary primary care program specializing in patients with complex chronic conditions and patients with a high rate of acute care utilization. Dr. Cleave was also a long-standing member of the South Island

Hospitalist and Hospitalist MAID program until 2022 and the chair of the Westshore Primary Care Society.

References

- Government of Canada. Legislative Background: Bill C-7: Government of Canada's Legislative Response to the Superior Court of Québec Truchon Decision. 2021. https://www.justice.gc.ca/eng/csj-sjc/pl/ad-am/c7/p3.html#s2-2
- 2. Cope SR, Mountford L, Smith JG, Agrawal N. Eye movement desensitization and reprocessing therapy (EMDR) to treat functional neurological disorder: A review. J EMDR Pract Res. 2018;12(3):118-32.
- 3. Shapiro F. The role of eye movement desensitization and reprocessing (EMDR) therapy in medicine: addressing the psychological and physical symptoms stemming from adverse life experiences. Perm J. 2014:18(1):71-7.
- Rockwood K, Song X, MacKnight C, Bergman H, Hogan DB, McDowell I, et al. A global 4. clinical measure of fitness and frailty in elderly people. CMAJ. 2005;173(5):489-97.
- Rockwood K. Clinical Frailty Scale. Version 2.0 [Internet]. Dalhousie University, Geriatric 5. Medicine Research; 2020. Available from: https://www.dal.ca/sites/gmr/our-tools/clinicalfrailty-scale.html
- Fleming KC, Volcheck MM. Central sensitization syndrome and the initial evaluation of a 6. patient with fibromyalgia: a review. Rambam Maimonides Med J. 2015;6(2):e0020. doi: 10.5041/RMMJ.10204.
- Woolf CJ. Central sensitization: implications for the diagnosis and treatment of pain. Pain. 7. 2011;152(3 Suppl):S2-S15. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2010.09.030.
- 8. Latremoliere A, Woolf CJ. Central sensitization: a generator of pain hypersensitivity by central neural plasticity. J Pain. 2009:10895–926. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2009.06.012.
- 9. Meeus M, Nijs J. Central sensitization: a biopsychosocial explanation for chronic widespread pain in patients with fibromyalgia and chronic fatigue syndrome. Clin Rheumatol. 2007;26:465-73. doi: 10.1007/s10067-006-0433-9.
- 10. Aaron LA, Burke MM, Buchwald D. Overlapping conditions among patients with chronic fatigue syndrome, fibromyalgia, and temporomandibular disorder. Arch Intern Med. 2000;160:221-227. 10.1001/archinte.160.2.221
- 11. Deary V, Chalder T, Sharpe M. The cognitive behavioural model of medically unexplained symptoms: a theoretical and empirical review. Clin Psychol Rev. 2007;27(7):781–97.
- 12. Charrua A, Pinto R, Birder LA, Cruz F. Sympathetic nervous system and chronic bladder pain: a new tune for an old song. Transl Androl Urol. 2015;4(5):534–42.
- 13. Pak DJ, Yong RJ, Kaye AD, Urman RD. Chronification of Pain: Mechanisms, Current Understanding, and Clinical Implications. Curr Pain Headache Rep. 2018;22(2):9.
- 14. Henry DE, Chiodo AE, Yang W. Central nervous system reorganization in a variety of chronic pain states: a review. Phys Med Rehabil. 2011;3(12):1116-25.



- 15. May A. Structural brain imaging: a window into chronic pain. Neuroscientist. 2011;17(2):209-20.
- 16. Descalzi G, Ikegami D, Ushijima T, Nestler EJ, Zachariou V, Narita M. Epigenetic mechanisms of chronic pain. Trends Neurosci. 2015;38(4):237-46.
- 17. Cherubino P, Sarzi-Puttini P, Zuccaro SM, Labianca R. The management of chronic pain in important patient subgroups. Clin Drug Investig. 2012;32(Suppl 1):35-44.
- 18. Altier N, Dion D, Boulanger A, Choinière M. Management of chronic neuropathic pain with methadone: a review of 13 cases. Clin J Pain. 2005;21(4):364-9.
- 19. Moulin DE, Palma D, Watling C, Schulz V. Methadone in the management of intractable neuropathic noncancer pain. Can J Neurol Sci. 2005;32(3):340-3.
- 20. Beresford L. Methadone: Handle with Care The Hospitalist. Hosp Natl Assoc Inpatient Physicians [Internet]. 2007;(9). Available from: https://www.thehospitalist.org/hospitalist/article/123435/methadone-handle-care
- 21. Mathew SJ, Shah A, Lapidus K, Clark C, Jarun N, Ostermeyer B, et al. Ketamine for treatment-resistant unipolar depression: current evidence. CNS Drugs. 2012;26(3):189-204.
- 22. Cohen SP, Bhatia A, Buvanendran A, Schwenk ES, Wasan AD, Hurley RW, et al. Consensus Guidelines on the Use of Intravenous Ketamine Infusions for Chronic Pain From the American Society of Regional Anesthesia and Pain Medicine, the American Academy of Pain Medicine, and the American Society of Anesthesiologists. Reg Anesth Pain Med. 2018;43(5):521-46.
- 23. Patel K, Sutherland H, Henshaw J, Taylor JR, Brown CA, Casson AJ, et al. Effects of neurofeedback in the management of chronic pain: A systematic review and meta-analysis of clinical trials. Eur J Pain U K. 2020;24(8):1440-57.
- 24. Hemati K, Amini Kadijani A, Sayehmiri F, Mehrzadi S, Zabihiyeganeh M, Hosseinzadeh A, et al. Melatonin in the treatment of fibromyalgia symptoms: A systematic review. Complement Ther Clin Pract. 2020;38:101072.
- 25. Geneen LJ, Moore RA, Clarke C, Martin D, Colvin LA, Smith BH. Physical activity and exercise for chronic pain in adults: an overview of Cochrane Reviews. Cochraine Database Syst Rev. 2017;4(4):CD011279. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD011279.pub3
- 26. Morley S, Eccleston C, Williams A. Systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials of cognitive behaviour therapy and behaviour therapy for chronic pain in adults, excluding headache. Pain. 1999;80(1):1-13. doi: 10.1016/S0304-3959(98)00255-3
- 27. Baer RA. Mindfulness Training as a Clinical Intervention: A Conceptual and Empirical Review. Clin Psychol Sci Pr. 2003;10(2):125-43.
- 28. Hilton L, Hempel S, Ewing BA, Apaydin E, Xenakis L, Newberry S, et al. Mindfulness Meditation for Chronic Pain: Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Ann Behav Med. 2017;51(2):199-213.



- 29. Institute for Chronic Pain, What is biofeedback? [Internet], 2017, Available from: https://www.instituteforchronicpain.org/treating-common-pain/what-is-painmanagement/biofeedback
- 30. Marzbani H, Marateb HR, Mansourian M. Neurofeedback: A Comprehensive Review on System Design, Methodology and Clinical Applications. Basic Clin Neurosci. 2016;7(2):143-58.
- 31. Roy R, de la Vega R, Jensen MP, Miro J. Neurofeedback for Pain Management: A Systematic Review. Front Neurosci. 2020
- 32. BMJ. Chronic pain syndromes Symptoms, diagnosis and treatment [Internet]. US; [cited 2020 Dec 14]. Available from: https://bestpractice.bmj.com/topics/en-us/694
- 33. Charleston L. Burning Mouth Syndrome: A Review of Recent Literature. Curr Pain Headache Rep. 2013;17:336.
- 34. Woda A, Dao T, Gremeau-Richard C. Steroid dysregulation and stomatodynia (burning mouth syndrome). J Orofac Pain. 2009;23:202-10.
- 35. Boras VV, Savage NW, Brailo V, Lukac J, Lukac M, Alajbeg I. Salivary and serum levels of substance P, neurokinin A and calcitonin gene related peptide in burning mouth syndrome. Med Oral Patol Oral Cirugia Bucal. 2015;15(3):e427-431.
- 36. Pezelj-Ribarić S, Kqiku L, Brumini G, Muhvić Urek M, Antonić R, Kuis D, et al. Proinflammatory cytokine levels in saliva in patients with burning mouth syndrome before and after treatment with low-level laser therapy. Lasers Med Sci. 2013;28(1):297-301.
- 37. Wandeur T, de Moura SA, de Medeiros AM, Machado MA, Alanis LR, Gregio AM, et al. Exfoliative cytology of the oral mucosa in burning mouth syndrome: a cytomorphological and cytomorphometric analysis. Gerodontology. 2011;28:44-8.
- 38. Sardella A, Lodi G, Torozzi M, Varoni E, Franchini R, Carrassi A. Acupuncture and burning mouth syndrome: a pilot study. Pain Pract. 2013;13(8):627-32.
- 39. Bergdahl M, Bergdahl J. Burning mouth syndrome: prevalence and associated factors. J Oral Pathol Med. 1999;28(8):350-4.
- 40. Grushka M, Epstein JB, Gorsky M. Burning Mouth Syndrome. Am Fam Physician. 2002;65(4):615-621.
- 41. Arthritis Society. Fibromyalgia [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2020 Nov 17]. Available from: https://arthritis.ca/about-arthritis/arthritis-types-(a-z)/types/fibromyalgia
- 42. Banfi G, Diani M, Pigatto PD, Reali E. T Cell Subpopulations in the Physiopathology of Fibromyalgia: Evidence and Perspectives. Int J Mol Sci. 2020;21(4).
- 43. Isomeri R, Mikkelsson M, Partinen M, Kauppi MJ. Severity of symptoms persists for decades in fibromyalgia—a 26-year follow-up study. Clin Rheumatol. 2018;37:1383–8.



- 44. Nöller V. Sprott H. Prospective epidemiological observations on the course of the disease in fibromyalgia patients. J Negat Results Biomed. 2003;2:4.
- 45. Solomon DH, Liang MH. Fibromyalgia: scourge of humankind or bane of a rheumatologist's existence? Arthritis Rheum. 1997;40(9):1553-5.
- 46. Pöyhiä R, Da Costa D, Fitzcharles MA. Pain and pain relief in fibromyalgia patients followed for three years. Arthritis Rheum. 2001;45(4):355-61.
- 48. Canadian Rheumatology Society Canadian Fibromyalgia Guidelines https://rheum.ca/resources/publications/canadian-fibromyalgia-guidelines/
- 49. Feldhaus-Dahir M. The causes and prevalence of vestibulodynia: a vulvar pain disorder. Urol Nurs. 2011;31:51-4.
- 50. Bachmann GA, Rosen R, Pinn VW, Utian WH, Ayers C, Basson R, et al. Vulvodynia: a stateof-the-art consensus on definitions, diagnosis and management. J Reprod Med. 2006;51(6):447–56.
- 51. Graziottin A, Brotto LA. Vulvar vestibulitis syndrome: a clinical approach. J Sex Marital Ther. 2004;30(3):125–39.
- 52. Goetsch MF. Vulvar vestibulitis: prevalence and historic features in a general gynecologic practice population. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1991;164(6 Pt 1):1609-14.
- 53. Gerber S, Bongiovanni AM, Ledger WJ, Witkin SS. Interleukin-1beta gene polymorphism in women with vulvar vestibulitis syndrome. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2003;107(1):74-7.
- 54. Jansco G, editor. Neurogenic Inflammation in Health and Disease, Volume 8 1st Edition [Internet]. Elsevier Science; 2008 [cited 2020 Nov 16]. (Neuroimmune Biology). Available from: https://www.elsevier.com/books/neurogenic-inflammation-in-health-anddisease/jancso/978-0-444-53229-9
- 55. Birklein F, Schmelz M. Neuropeptides, neurogenic inflammation and complex regional pain syndrome (CRPS). Neurosci Lett. 2008;437(3):199-202.
- 56. Reed BD, Harlow SD, Plegue MA, Sen A. Remission, Relapse, and Persistence of vulvodynia: A Longitudinal Population-Based Study. J Womens Health. 2016;25(3):276-83.
- 57. Lynch PJ, Edwards L. Chronic Idiopathic Mucocutaneous Pain Syndromes: Vulvodynia, Penodynia, and Scrotodynia. In: Practical Psychodermatology [Internet]. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd; 2014 [cited 2020 Nov 16]. p. 173-9. Available from: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/9781118560648.ch20
- 58. Aalto AP, Huhtala H, Mäenpää J, Staff S. Combination of Treatments With or Without Surgery in Localized Provoked Vulvodynia: Outcomes After Three Years of Follow-Up. BioResearch Open Access. 2019;8(1):25-31.



- 59. Rosen NO. Dawson SJ. Brooks M. Treatment of vulvodynia: pharmacological and nonpharmacological approaches. Drugs. 2019;79:483-493. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40265-019-01085-1
- 60. Shor S, Green C, Szantyr B, Phillips S, Liegner K, Burrascano J, et al. Chronic Lyme disease: An evidence-based definition by the ILADS working group. Antibiotics. 2019;8(4):269.
- 61. Aucott JN. Posttreatment Lyme disease syndrome. Infect Dis Clin North Am. 2015;29(2):309-23.
- 62. Cardenas-de la Garza JA, De la Cruz-Valadez E, Ocampo-Candiani J, Welsh O. Clinical spectrum of Lyme disease. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 2019;38(2):201-8.
- 63. Raffetin A, Saunier A, Bouiller K, Caraux-Paz P, Eldin C, Gallien S, et al. Unconventional diagnostic tests for Lyme borreliosis: a systematic review. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2020;26(1):51-9.
- 64. Bush LM, Vazquez-Pertejo MT. Tick borne illness-Lyme disease. Dis Mon. 2018;64(5):195-212.
- 65. Guedj E, Eldin C, Raoult D, Azorin JM, Belzeaux R. Functional neuroimaging in patients presenting with somatoform disorders: A model for investigating persisting symptoms after tick bites and post-treatment Lyme disease syndrome? Med Mal Infect. 2019;49(2):150-6.
- 66. Nemeth J, Bernasconi E, Heininger U, Abbas M, Nadel D, Strahm C, et al. Update of the Swiss guidelines on post-treatment Lyme disease syndrome. Swiss Med Wkly. 2016;5(146):w14353.
- 67. Oliveira CR, Shapiro ED. Update on persistent symptoms associated with Lyme disease. Curr Opin Pediatr. 2015;27(1):100-4.
- 68. Jaulhac B, Saunier A, Caumes E, Bouiller K, Gehanno JF, Rabaud C, et al. Lyme borreliosis and other tick-borne diseases. Guidelines from the French scientific societies (II). Biological diagnosis, treatment, persistent symptoms after documented or suspected Lyme borreliosis. Med Mal Infect. 2019;49(5):335-46.
- 69. Figoni J, Chirouze C, Hansmann Y, Lemogne C, Hentgen V, Saunier A, et al. Lyme borreliosis and other tick-borne diseases. Guidelines from the French Scientific Societies (I): prevention, epidemiology, diagnosis. Med Mal Infect. 2019;49(5):318–34.
- 70. Halperin JJ. Diagnosis and management of Lyme neuroborreliosis. Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther. 2018;16(1):5–11.
- 71. Koedel U, Fingerle V, Pfister H. Lyme neuroborreliosis—epidemiology, diagnosis and management. Nat Rev Neurol. 2015;11:446-56.
- 72. Mead PS. Epidemiology of Lyme Disease. Infect Dis Clin North Am. 2015;29(2):187–210.
- 73. Baker PJ. A Review of Antibiotic-Tolerant Persisters and Their Relevance to Posttreatment Lyme Disease Symptoms. Am J Med. 2020;133(4):429-31.



- 74. Kullberg BJ, Vrijmoeth HD, van de Schoor F, Hovius JW. Lyme borreliosis: diagnosis and management. BMJ. 2020;369:m1041.
- 75. Rauer S, Kastenbauer S, Fingerle V, Hunfeld KP, Huppertz HI, Dersch R. Lyme Neuroborreliosis. Dtsch Ärztebl Int. 2018;115(45):751-6.
- 76. Younger DS. Epidemiology of Lyme Neuroborreliosis. Neurol Clin. 2016;34(4):875–86.
- 77. Rebman AW, Aucott JN. Post-treatment Lyme Disease as a Model for Persistent Symptoms in Lyme Disease. Front Med. 2020;7:57.
- 78. Melenotte C, Drancourt M, Gorvel JP, Mege JL, Raoult D. Post-bacterial infection chronic fatigue syndrome is not a latent infection. Med Mal Infect. 2019;49(2):140-9.
- 79. Wormser GP, Weitzner E, McKenna D, Nadelman RB, Scavarda C, Nowakowski J. Longterm assessment of fatigue in patients with culture-confirmed Lyme disease. Am J Med. 2015;128(2):181–4.
- 80. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome. 2021. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/me-cfs/treatment/index.html
- 81. Committee on the Diagnostic Criteria for Myalgic Encephalomyelitis/Chronic Fatigue Syndrome, Board on the Health of Select Populations, Institute of Medicine. Beyond myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome: redefining an illness. [Internet]. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US); 2015. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25695122/
- 82. Brown AA, Jason LA. Validating a measure of myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome symptomatology. Fatigue. 2014;2(3):132-52.
- 83. International Association for Chronic Fatique Syndrome/Myalgic Encephalomyelitis. Chronic fatigue syndrome myalgic encephalomyelitis: A primer for clinical practitioners [Internet]. Chicago: IACFS/ME; 2012. Available from: https://www.iacfsme.org/assets/docs/PrimerFinal.pdf
- 84. Nijs J, Vaes P, De Meirleir K. The Chronic Fatigue Syndrome Activities and Participation Questionnaire (CFS-APQ): an overview. Occup Ther Int. 2005;12(2):107-21.
- 85. Vergauwen K, Huijnen IP, Kos D, Van de Velde D, van Eupen I, Meeus M. Assessment of activity limitations and participation restrictions with persons with chronic fatigue syndrome: a systematic review. Disabil Rehabil. 2015;37(19):1706-16.
- 86. Lim EJ, Ahn YC, Jang ES, Lee SW, Lee SH, Son CG. Systematic review and meta-analysis of the prevalence of chronic fatigue syndrome/myalgic encephalomyelitis (CFS/ME). J Transl Med. 2020;18(1).
- 87. Fugl A, Andersen CL. Epstein-Barr virus and its association with disease a review of relevance to general practice. BMC Fam Pract. 2019;20(1):62.
- 88. Andrei G, Trompet E, Snoeck R. Novel Therapeutics for Epstein(-)Barr Virus. Molecules. 2019;12(24):5.

- 89. Maes M. Twisk FN, Johnson C, Myalgic encephalomyelitis (ME), chronic fatigue syndrome (CFS), and chronic fatigue (CF) are distinguished accurately: results of supervised learning techniques applied on clinical and inflammatory data. Psychiatry Res. 2012;200(2-3):754-60.
- 90. Anderson G, Maes M. Mitochondria and immunity in chronic fatigue syndrome. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry. 2020;103:109976.
- 91. Maksoud R, du Preez S, Eaton-Fitch N, Thapaliya K, Barnden L, Cabanas H, et al. A systematic review of neurological impairments in myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatique syndrome using neuroimaging techniques. PLoS One. 15(4):e0232475.
- 92. Shan ZY, Barnden LR, Kwiatek RA, Bhuta S, Hermens DF, Lagopoulos J. Neuroimaging characteristics of myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome (ME/CFS): a systematic review. J Transl Med. 2020;18(1):335.
- 93. Wirth K, Scheibenbogen C. A Unifying Hypothesis of the Pathophysiology of Myalgic Encephalomyelitis/Chronic Fatigue Syndrome (ME/CFS): Recognitions from the finding of autoantibodies against ss2-adrenergic receptors. Autoimmun Rev. 2020;19(6):102527.
- 94. Almenar-Perez E, Sarria L, Nathanson L. Assessing diagnostic value of microRNAs from peripheral blood mononuclear cells and extracellular vesicles in Myalgic Encephalomyelitis/Chronic Fatigue Syndrome. Sci Rep. 2020;10(1):2064.
- 95. Tomas C, Elson JL, Strassheim V, Newton JL, Walker M. The effect of myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome (ME/CFS) severity on cellular bioenergetic function. PLoS One. 2020;15(4):e0231136.
- 96. Nacul L, De Barros B, Kingdon CC, Cliff JM, Clark TG, Mudie K, et al. Evidence of clinical pathology abnormalities in people with myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome (ME/CFS) from an analytic cross-sectional study. Diagnostics. 2019;9(2):41.
- 97. Melvin A, Lacerda E, Dockrell HM, O'Rahilly S, Nacul L. Circulating levels of GDF15 in patients with myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome. J Transl Med. 2019;17(1):409.
- 98. Chacko A, Staines DR, Johnston SC, Marshall-Gradisnik SM. Dysregulation of protein kinase gene expression in NK cells from chronic fatigue syndrome/myalgic encephalomyelitis patients. Gene Regul Syst Biol. 2016;10:85-93.
- 99. Bragee B, Michos A, Drum B, Fahlgren M, Szulkin R, Bertilson BC. Signs of Intracranial Hypertension, Hypermobility, and Craniocervical Obstructions in Patients With Myalgic Encephalomyelitis/Chronic Fatigue Syndrome. Front Neurol. 2020;11:828.
- 100. Cliff JM, King EC, Lee JS, Sepulveda N, Wolf AS, Kingdon C, et al. Cellular Immune Function in Myalgic Encephalomyelitis/Chronic Fatigue Syndrome (ME/CFS). Front Immunol. 2019;10:796.
- 101. Yang CA, Bauer S, Ho YC, Sotzny F, Chang FG, Scheibenbogen C. The expression signature of very long non-coding RNA in myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome. J Transl Med. 2018;16(1):231.

- 102. Jason LA. Porter N. Hunnell J. Brown A. Rademaker A. Richman JA. A natural history study of chronic fatigue syndrome. Rehabil Psychol. 2011;56(1):32-42.
- 103. McManimen SL, Devendorf AR, Brown AA, Moore BC, Moore JH, Jason LA. Mortality in patients with myalgic encephalomyelitis and chronic fatigue syndrome. Fatigue Biomed Health Behav. 2016;4(4):195-207.
- 104. Garg H, Douglas M, Turkington G, Turkington D. Recovery from refractory chronic fatigue syndrome with CBT and modafinil. BMJ Case Rep. 2021;14(3):e240283.
- 105. Blockmans D, Persoons P. Long-term methylphenidate intake in chronic fatigue syndrome. Acta Clin Belg. 2016;21(6):407-14.
- 106. Andrews NE, Strong J, Meredith PJ. Activity Pacing, Avoidance, Endurance, and Associations With Patient Functioning in Chronic Pain: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2012;93(11):2109-2121.e7.
- 107. Khanpour Ardestani S, Karkhaneh M, Stein E, Punja S, Junqueira DR, Kuzmyn T, Pearson M, Smith L, Olson K, Vohra S. Systematic Review of Mind-Body Interventions to Treat Myalgic Encephalomyelitis/Chronic Fatigue Syndrome. Medicina. 2021;57:652. https://doi.org/10.3390/ medicina57070652
- 108. Estevez-Lopez F, Maestre-Cascales C, Russell D, Alvarez-Gallardo IC, Rodriguez-Ayllon M, Hughes CM, et al. Effectiveness of exercise on fatigue and sleep quality in fibromyalgia: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised trials. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2020;
- 109. Agarwal V, Nischal A, Praharaj SK, Menon V, Kar SK. Clinical Practice Guideline: Psychotherapies for Somatoform Disorders. Indian J Psychiatry. 2020;62((Suppl 2)):S263-71.
- 110. Payne P, Levine PA, Crane-Godreau MA. Somatic experiencing: using interoception and proprioception as core elements of trauma therapy. Front Psychol. 2015;6:93.
- 111. Quirin M, Bode RC, Kuhl J. Recovering from negative events by boosting implicit positive affect. Cogn Emot. 2011;25:559-70.
- 112. Woo M. EMDR Processing of Chronic Fatigue Syndrome. J Psychol Clin Psychiatry. 2017;7(3):00442.
- 113. Holstege G, Bandlerz R, Saper CB. The Emotional Motor System. 1st ed. Vol. 107. Amsterdam: Elsevier Science; 1996.
- 114. Krout KE, Belzer RE, Loewy AD. Brainstem projections to midline and intralaminar thalamic nuclei of the rat. J Comp Neurol. 2002;448:53-101.
- 115. Strominger NL, Demarest RJ, Laemle LB. The Reticular Formation and the Limbic System. In: Noback's Human Nervous System. 7th ed. New York, NY: Springer; 2012.
- 116. Heimer L, Van Hoesen GW. The limbic lobe and its output channels: implications for emotional functions and adaptive behavior. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2006;30:126-47.



- 117. Valiente-Gómez A. Moreno-Alcázar A. Treen D. Cedrón C. Colom F. Pérez V. et al. EMDR beyond PTSD: A Systematic Literature Review. Front Psychol. 2017;8:1668.
- 118. Landin-Romero R, Moreno-Alcazar A, Pagani M, Amann BL. How Does Eye Movement Desensitization and Reprocessing Therapy Work? A Systematic Review on Suggested Mechanisms of Action. Front Psychol. 2018;9:1395.
- 119. Grant M, Threlfo C. EMDR in the treatment of chronic pain. J Clin Psychol. 2002;58:1502-5.
- 120. Wilson SA, Tinker R, Becker LA, Hofmann A, Cole JW. EMDR treatment of phantom limb pain with brain imaging (MEG). Pap Present Annual Meet EMDR Int Assoc Tor. 2000.
- 121. Tesarz J, Leisner S, Gerhardt A, Janke S, Seidler GH, Eich W, et al. Effects of Eye Movement Desensitization and Reprocessing (EMDR) Treatment in Chronic Pain Patients: A Systematic Review. Pain Med. 2014;15(2):247-63.
- 122. Downie J, Chandler JA. Interpreting Canada's Medical Assistance in Dying Legislation [Internet]. Institute for Research on Public Policy; 2018 Mar [cited 2021 Jun 8]. Available from: https://irpp.org/research-studies/interpreting-canadas-medical-assistance-in-dyingmaid-legislation/
- 123. College of Physicians and Surgeons of British Columbia. Final disposition report of the Inquiry Committee CPSBC [Internet]. Vancouver, BC, Canada; 2018 Feb. Available from: http://eol.law.dal.ca/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/College-letter-.pdf
- 124. A.B. v. Canada (Attorney General), 2017 ONSC 3759 [Internet]. Available from: http://eol.law.dal.ca/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/20170619152447518.pdf
- 125. Downie J. A watershed month for medical assistance in dying. Policy Options [Internet]. 2019 Sep 20; Available from: https://policyoptions.irpp.org/magazines/september-2019/awatershed-month-for-medical-assistance-in-dying/
- 126. College of Physicians and Surgeons of Nova Scotia. Professional Standard Regarding Medical Assistance in Dying (MAiD) [Internet]. 2021 May. Available from: https://cpsns.ns.ca/resource/medical-assistance-in-dying/
- 127. Health Canada. Final Report of the Expert Panel on MAiD and Mental Illness [Internet]. 2022. May. Available from: https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/news/2022/05/final-report-ofthe-expert-panel-on-maid-and-mental-illness.html
- 128. Health Canada. Comprehensive Illustrative MAID Practice Standard. Draft for Rapid Review. 2022 December.
- 129. Government of Canada. Legislative Background: Medical Assistance in Dying (Bill C-14). Available from: http://www.justice.gc.ca/eng/rp-pr/other-autre/ad-am/p2.html#p2_2



Appendix A

Complex chronic conditions (CCCs)

This appendix contains details of some CCCs. It is not inclusive of all CCCs. It is not possible to make definitive statements regarding whether or not particular CCCs are mental illnesses. For each CCC, a section entitled *Physiological changes* is included for completeness. It should be noted that physiological changes occur in mental illnesses as well and that the existence of such changes does not preclude the possibility of a condition being solely a mental disorder. Nor does it change the fact that both psychological and physical treatments may ameliorate symptoms.

It is for the assessors to determine the extent of any mental illness present and to decide on the patient's eligibility for MAiD, taking into account all parts of the individual case. If the assessors decide that a condition is primarily a mental illness then until the law changes, in the absence of other condition(s) making the patient eligible for MAiD, the patient may not receive MAiD.

Central sensitization

Many of the CCCs involve central sensitization and this can be defined as a state in which the central nervous system amplifies sensory input across many organ systems. Heightened sensitivity results in the perception of pain from non-painful stimuli (allodynia) and greater pain than would be expected from painful stimuli (hyperalgesia) (6,7).

On a cellular level, central sensitization results from multiple processes altering the functional status of nociceptive neurons. These processes include increases in membrane excitability, facilitation of synaptic strength, and decreases in inhibitory transmission (disinhibition). Affected neurons display spontaneous activity, reduced activation threshold, and enlarged receptive fields. Hypersensitivity amplifies the sensory response elicited by normal inputs such as innocuous stimuli and normal body sensations and results in changes in brain activity that can be detected by functional magnetic resonance or positron emission tomographic imaging and electro-physiologic studies (8).

There is also overlap with chronic fatigue, cognitive difficulties (brain fog) and drug or chemical sensitivities (9,10). It is important to consider central sensitization when assessing many of the CCCs.

Chronic pain syndromes (CPSs)

There are many types of CPSs. A general discussion of CPSs is followed by information on a selection of the more common syndromes presented in alphabetical order. None of these conditions leads directly to an RFND.

General

Definition and diagnosis

Chronic pain occurs due to persistent activation of neural pain pathways and often muscle spasm. It can occur as part of degenerative diseases, chronic conditions, or injuries. Pain that lasts for

longer than three months is considered chronic. Some chronic pain, such as pain due to traumatic musculoskeletal injuries, has clear origins while others, such as Burning Mouth Syndrome and Fibromyalgia may not. Whether or not the chronic pain was triggered by a specific event or events, it usually involves central sensitization and many of the diagnostic and treatment strategies are similar.

Epidemiology

Chronic pain is one of the most common reasons individuals seek care from a primary care provider. Worldwide, the prevalence of significant chronic pain is approximately 23% (11). The prevalence increases with age and one third of adults over 65 years of age experience chronic pain. Risk factors include being female, being pregnant, being over 45 years old, having a personal or family history of chronic pain, having a high-risk occupation, and experiencing unemployment or job change.

Etiology

The triggers of chronic pain include musculoskeletal causes such as arthritis, fractures and myofascial diseases; neurological causes such as spinal stenosis and neuropathies; psychological causes such as depression and sleep disturbances; localized disease such as those affecting the gastrointestinal tract or reproductive system; or as part of a generalized disease process such as in some rheumatological conditions, infectious diseases, and cancers (12).

Physiological changes

The transition from acute to chronic pain involves distinct pathophysiological changes in the peripheral and central nervous system (13). A group of cortical and subcortical brain regions, often referred to as the "pain matrix" show differences on functional imaging studies in individuals with chronic pain compared to healthy controls (14). A decrease in grey matter in the pain-transmitting areas has also been observed among individuals with CPSs in structural imaging studies (15). Changes in the motor and sensory homunculus have also been observed (14).

Additionally, neuropathic and inflammatory pain promote persisting adaptations at the cellular and molecular level (16). Injuries can induce changes to chromatin structure, which lead to stable changes in gene expression and neural function (16). There is also evidence of epigenetic changes in the spinal cord and brain in individuals with chronic pain (16).

Treatments

Medications

Patients with chronic pain have usually tried many analgesics. Sometimes their treating physicians have not viewed them as requiring a palliative approach and so have not considered opioids for non-cancer pain or augmenters like gabapentin (17). Methadone is more effective for neuropathic pain than other opioids and could be tried for refractory pain (18–20).

Intravenous or intranasal ketamine has been effective for both intractable pain and for concurrent depression (21,22).



Sleep disturbance is common and may be from pain or from the condition itself and should be managed (23,24). Often a small dose of a tricyclic antidepressant is helpful.

Any concurrent depression should be offered a trial of appropriate antidepressants.

Physical and occupational therapy

Physical activity and exercise is an intervention with few adverse events that may improve pain severity and physical function, and consequent quality of life, but studies showed mostly small-to-moderate effect, and were not consistent (25).

Psychological, Somatic-Based, and Neurophysiological treatments

There are several treatments aimed at changing brain function through words, actions and thoughts.

A. Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT) and Mindfulness

CBT has been shown to be effective in reducing chronic pain and improving function and wellbeing (26). Mindfulness refers to intentional, non-judgmental conscious awareness of the present moment (27). Mindfulness exercises are incorporated into many therapeutic interventions. One review found that mindfulness improves pain, depression symptoms, and quality of life in patients with chronic pain (28).

B. Biofeedback and Neurofeedback

Biofeedback is a self-regulatory therapy that provides feedback on physiological systems. It is used to reduce sympathetic activation (stress response) and to increase parasympathetic activation (relaxation response) of the nervous system, with more conscious control over each response (29). Neurofeedback is a type of biofeedback which teaches self-control of brain functions to subjects by measuring brain waves and providing a feedback signal. Neurofeedback methodology proposes that by learning self-regulation a patient can reduce or even eliminate pain sensations from chronic conditions. Studies suggest that the brain changes its functional organization at the level of the somatosensory cortex in chronic pain patients (30). Both biofeedback and neurofeedback have been helpful in CPSs especially those with concurrent PTSD (31).

Specific CPSs

Burning Mouth Syndrome, Fibromyalgia, and Vulvodynia are described here as representative of the CPSs. Other CPSs include irritable bowel syndrome, interstitial cystitis, chronic headache (including trigeminal neuralgia and migraine), and pelvic pain syndromes. All can be severe and disabling and can involve central sensitization. The BMJ best practice guideline on CPSs provides a good overview on epidemiology, diagnosis, treatment, and prognosis of these syndromes (32).



A. Burning Mouth Syndrome (BMS)

Definition and diagnosis

BMS is characterized by a burning sensation in the oral mucosa and perioral regions. It usually has a bilateral and symmetric distribution and occurs in the absence of relevant clinical and laboratory findings. The pain usually has a sudden onset and constant duration but may vary. Like other CPSs, diagnosis of BMS is primarily based on exclusion. In the International Classification of Headache Disorders-II, BMS is listed under "central causes of facial pain".

Using this classification system, a diagnosis of BMS requires:

- 1. a burning-like pain in the mouth that is daily and persists most of the day,
- 2. normal appearing oral mucosa, and
- 3. exclusion of local and systemic diseases

Epidemiology

The estimated prevalence of BMS ranges from 0.7-3.6% in men and 0.6-12.0% in women. BMS primarily affects postmenopausal women and prevalence increases with age (33).

Etiology

The etiology of BMS is unclear, but hormones, steroid alterations, and dysregulation may contribute its pathogenesis (34).

Physiological changes

Individuals with BMS have been observed to have reduced serum neurokinin A (35), and increased levels of Interleukin-6 (IL–6) and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-alpha) (36). Cytomorphometric changes in the oral mucosa have also been observed (37).

Prognosis

Some short-term follow-up studies suggest potential symptomatic improvement of BMS symptoms with treatment, but the long-term outcomes are unclear. In a retrospective study of individuals with BMS who did not receive treatment over at least 18 months, approximately 10% of cases had spontaneous remission, 26% had moderate improvement, 37% had no significant change, and 26% had worsening symptoms. The same study reported that therapy may be effective in 29% of cases, with 56% reporting no changes, and 15% reporting worsening symptoms (38). An estimated 50-66% of individuals with BMS will experience improvement in their symptoms after 6-7 years (39).

Treatment

The treatment of burning mouth syndrome is usually directed at its symptoms and is the same as the medical management of other neuropathic pain conditions. Studies generally support the use of low dosages of clonazepam and tricyclic antidepressants (e.g., amitriptyline). Evidence also supports the utility of a low dosage of gabapentin. Studies have not shown any benefit from treatment with selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors or other serotoninergic antidepressants (40).



B Fibromyalgia (FM)

Definition and diagnosis

FM is characterized by chronic widespread pain, fatigue, and sleep disturbances. According to the American College of Rheumatology 2010 criteria, a patient satisfies diagnostic criteria for FM if the following three conditions are met:

- Widespread pain index (WPI) ≥7 and symptom severity (SS) scale score ≥5 or WPI 3 to 6 and SS scale score ≥9
- 2. Symptoms have been present at a similar level for at least 3 months
- 3. The patient does not have a disorder that would otherwise explain the pain.

Epidemiology

The prevalence of FM is approximately 2% in Canada. 80-90% of all cases are among women (41).

Etiology

The etiology of FM is not clear, but the most clearly defined mechanism is the alteration of central pain pathways. Emotional conditions can trigger or worsen symptoms (42). The relationship between the nervous system and inflammation is well-characterized but the mechanism that links the various features of FM, including stress-related manifestations, central sensitization, and dysregulation of the innate and adaptive immune responses is largely unknown (42).

Physiological changes

Mast cells play a role in maintaining pain conditions such as musculoskeletal pain and central sensitization in FM; they can mediate microglia activation through the production of proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-1beta, IL-6, and TNFalpha (42).

Prognosis

One long-term follow-up study found that symptoms of FM are persistent for decades in most individuals without significant deterioration of self-reported functional ability (43). About a quarter of individuals with FM experience periods of time without symptoms during their illness (43). Shorter follow-up studies support these findings; some individuals with FM have reported improved symptoms over a 2–3-year period, but most report stable symptoms over time (44–46).

Treatment

Medications: Only pregabalin and duloxetine have Health Canada approval for management of fibromyalgia symptoms, but acetaminophen, NSAIDs and tramadol are also effective for pain control in fibromyalgia (48).

Concurrent sleep and mood disorders are best treated with tricyclic and other antidepressants. Cannabis can be helpful for both pain and sleep disorders (48). Physical: Graded or pacing exercise can be useful (48).



C. Vulvodynia

Definition and diagnosis

Vulvodynia is a CPS that affects the vulvar area. It occurs without an identifiable cause or visible pathology (49,50). Other terms used include provoked vestibulodynia, vulvar vestibulitis, vulvar vestibulitis syndrome, vulvar dysesthesia and dysesthetic vulvodynia. This syndrome is characterized by severe pain on vestibular touch or attempted vaginal entry, point tenderness to cotton-tip palpation of the vulvar vestibule, and physical findings confined to vestibular erythema and non-specific inflammation (51).

Epidemiology

Vulvodynia may be the main cause of dyspareunia in premenopausal women with reported prevalence rates of up to 15% in general gynecological practice (52).

Etiology

There is no known cause, but it commonly occurs after an infection such as vaginal candidiasis.

Physiological changes

Allele 2 in the interleukin- 1β gene has been reported to be more common in women with vulvar vestibulitis syndrome than in other women (53). Sensory nerves that cover the skin surface are peptidergic (protein producing) and when these sensory nerves are irritated, they produce Substance P, which is pain producing, and other unfavorable cytokines such as calcitonin gene related peptide and neurokinin A (54). These proteins are called neuropeptides as they are produced by nerves. A simple definition of neurogenic inflammation is the "release of neuropeptides from nociceptors" (55).

Prognosis

Remission of symptoms after a diagnosis of Vulvodynia is common. However, half of the women with remission end up having a relapse soon thereafter. Persistence of Vulvodynia symptoms happens in the minority. Factors associated with whether the patient will experience relapse, remission or persistence are the characteristics of the pain, pain duration and comorbidities (56). Vulvodynia is a chronic disease, and the data regarding long-term prognosis is limited (57).

Treatment

Pharmacological treatments that may be beneficial but require further research include antinociceptive agents (lidocaine, capsaicin), anti-inflammatory agents (corticosteroids, interferon), neuromodulating medications (anticonvulsants and antidepressants), hormonal agents, and muscle relaxants (e.g., botulinum toxin). There is strong evidence to support and recommend non-pharmacological interventions including psychological therapy, pelvic floor physical therapy, as well as surgery (i.e., vestibulectomy for provoked vestibulodynia) for the treatment of vulvodynia (58,59).



Chronic Lyme Disease (CLD)

Chronic Lyme Disease (CLD) is one example of a bacterial infection that can trigger a CCC. It causes chronic fatigue and other symptoms.

Definition and diagnosis

The International Lyme and Associated Diseases Society defines CLD as a multisystem illness with a wide range of symptoms and/or signs that are either continuously or intermittently present for a minimum of six months. CLD is characterized by symptoms such as fatigue, musculoskeletal pain and cognitive difficulties which may wax, wane, or migrate over time (60,61). CLD includes those with untreated late-stage infection (such as late Lyme neuroborreliosis) and those with symptoms that persist after treatment (post-treatment syndrome) (60,61).

Initial diagnosis of Lyme disease usually involves a two-step serological process, and sometimes PCR or culture (62-64). Objective biomarkers to test for CLD are currently lacking (65).

A diagnosis of CLD can be made if the following criteria have been satisfied:

- 1. documented clinical and laboratory evidence of previous infection with *Borrelia burgdorferi*;
- 2. a completed course of appropriate antibiotic therapy;
- 3. symptoms including fatigue, arthralgia, myalgia, cognitive dysfunction, or radicular pain persisting for at least six months;
- 4. a plausible chronological association between documented B. burgdorferi infection and onset of symptoms; and
- 5. exclusion of other somatic or psychiatric causes of symptoms (66).

A condition other than CLD is eventually diagnosed in 80% of individuals with persistent and pleomorphic symptoms after documented or suspected Lyme infection (67,68).

Epidemiology

It is estimated that 10% of individuals who have been diagnosed with Lyme disease experience fatigue, musculoskeletal pain, concentration disorders, or short-term memory deficits six months following treatment (65). The neurological manifestations, Lyme neuroborreliosis, are reported in 10-15% of patients with Lyme disease (69-71). The risk of initial infection depends on the geographic distribution of vector tick species, ecologic factors that influence tick infection rates, and human behaviours that promote tick bite. Rates of infection are highest among children 5 to 15 years old and adults older than 50 years (72). Risk factors for CLD following infection include delayed diagnosis, increased severity of symptoms, and presence of neurologic symptoms at time of initial treatment (61).

Etiology

The etiology of CLD remains unclear, but there is strong evidence that CLD is not caused by persistent active infection (67). Prolonged treatment with antibiotics has no benefit in relieving CLD symptoms and carries the risk of serious adverse effects (68–75). Other potential illness-causing mechanisms have been investigated, including immune dysregulation through inflammatory or secondary autoimmune pathways, and altered neural networks, as in central sensitization (76,77). Psychological trauma may also contribute to CLD symptoms (78).



Physiological changes

Neuroimaging studies have shown abnormalities in individuals with CLD compared to healthy adults (65).

Prognosis

One study followed people with documented cases of acute Lyme disease and found that 10-20 years later, 9% had severe fatigue (79). However, in most of these people, their symptoms were not thought to be related to Lyme disease (79).

Treatment

Prolonged courses of antibiotics are sometimes used, but a clinical practice guideline states "The evidence does not support the hypothesis that persistent symptoms should be interpreted as clinical infection, or that antibiotic retreatment is safe and effective" (80). We are left with general treatments for the neuropathic pain, chronic fatigue and other symptoms.

Myalgic Encephalomyelitis/Chronic Fatigue Syndrome (ME/CFS)

Definition and diagnosis

ME/CFS is characterized by persistent fatigue that is not alleviated by rest. There are no reliable or specific biological causes, biomarkers or laboratory anomalies that indicate or help to diagnose ME/CFS. Instead, diagnosis is based on self-reported symptoms. Using the 2015 Institute of Medicine criteria (81) a diagnosis of CFS can be made if patients have the following 3 symptoms:

- 1. Substantial reduction/impairment in the ability to engage in pre-illness levels of occupational, educational, social, or personal activities that:
 - a. persists for more than six months;
 - b. is accompanied by fatigue that is often profound;
 - c. is of new or definite onset;
 - d. is not the result of ongoing excessive exertion; and
 - e. is not substantially alleviated by rest
- 2. Post-exertional malaise (PEM)
- 3. Unrefreshing sleep.

Patients must also have at least 1 of the following symptoms:

- 1. Cognitive impairment
- 2. Orthostatic intolerance

Symptoms must be present at least half of the time and have moderate, substantial, or severe intensity.

The DePaul symptom questionnaire, the 36-question short form of the DePaul questionnaire (SF-36) (82) the functional capacity scale (83), and the CFS-activities and participation guestionnaire (CFS-APQ) (84,85) may be useful tools when assessing individuals with ME/CFS.



Epidemiology

A comprehensive review of prevalence studies estimated the prevalence to be 0.89% (86). ME/CFS has been found to be 2 to 3 times more prevalent among women than men, and onset has been observed to peak during adolescence and between 30 and 50 years of age.

Etiology

Viral and bacterial infections and immunological, neuroendocrine, genetic, gastrointestinal, and psychological factors have been investigated as triggering factors of chronic fatigue syndrome, but the etiology of ME/CFS remains unclear. Epstein Barr virus (EBV) is an example of a virus that can lead to post-infectious fatigue syndrome. The lifetime prevalence of EBV infection is 90-95% (87,88), and infection in adolescents and young adults can lead to infectious mononucleosis (IM) in up to 50% of cases. Evidence suggests that there may also be an inflammatory component to ME/CFS (89).

Physiological changes

Although there is insufficient data to identify a unique biomarker of ME/CFS, there are abnormal metabolic patterns in peripheral blood of individuals with ME/CFS (90). Numerous studies investigating ME/CFS using neuroimaging techniques have reported neurological or cognitive differences in adults with ME/CFS compared to healthy adult controls. Differences include changes in grey and white matter volumes, cerebral blood flow, brain structure, sleep, EEG activity, functional connectivity, and cognitive function (91). Additional brain area recruitment and sluggish functional MRI signal response suggest abnormal neurovascular coupling in adults with ME/CFS (92).

Individuals with ME/CFS have also been observed to have elevated ss2 adrenergic receptor (ss2AdR) and M3 acetylcholine receptor antibodies (93); different methylation patterns of genomic DNA and noncoding RNA profiles of immune cells (94); reduced mitochondrial function (96); reduced glycolysis (95); difference in blood values of creatine kinase; difference in the count, size and zeta-potential of plasma extracellular vesicles (94,96); increased levels of GDF15, a circulating biomarker of cellular stress (97); difference in expression of protein kinase genes (98); increased hypermobility, signs of intracranial hypertension, and craniocervical obstructions (99); increased proportion of mucosal associated invariant T cells (100); and elevated levels of LncRNAs NTT, MIAT and EmX2OS (101).

Prognosis

Measures of disability, fatigue, support, optimism, and coping have been observed to remain stable over a 10-year period among individuals with ME/CFS (102). In one small study of 56 deceased individuals with ME/CFS, researchers found that individuals with ME/CFS had an increased risk of earlier all-cause and cardiovascular-related mortality, and a lower age of death for suicide and cancer compared to the overall US population (103).

Treatment

Sleep disturbance is common and should be managed (23,24). Often a small dose of a tricyclic antidepressant is helpful. Fatigue and cognitive difficulties may be treated with stimulants such as methylphenidate and Modafinil and these are effective in about 30% of people (104,105). Any



concurrent depression should be offered a trial of appropriate antidepressants. Concurrent chronic pain should be managed as discussed above.

Pacing, where the patient exercises as much as possible within the constraints of their symptoms, is a useful approach and better than graded exercise (106).

The use of CBT in ME/CFS has become controversial and the US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention have removed CBT from the recommended treatments for the condition (48). A systematic review of mind-body interventions (MBIs) including CBT and mindfulness found that fatigue severity, anxiety/depression and physical and mental functioning were improved in patients receiving MBIs. However, small sample sizes, heterogeneous diagnostic criteria, and a high risk of bias may challenge these results (107).

Appendix B

General treatments of CCCs

In addition to the treatments that are described for specific CCCs in Appendix A, the following treatments can be considered as appropriate for patients with CCCs. The possibility of the existence of therapeutic approaches unknown to the assessors must always be borne in mind. It is for an assessor to decide if they or the other assessor have sufficient expertise in the condition that is causing the patient's suffering (with respect to diagnosis, prognosis, treatment options (currently available and under study).

Medications

Patients with chronic pain who are seeking MAiD should be viewed with a palliative approach. Consider opioids for non-cancer pain or augmenters like gabapentin (17). Methadone is more effective for neuropathic pain than other opioids and could be tried for refractory pain (18–20).

Intravenous or intranasal ketamine has been effective for both intractable pain and for treatment-resistant depression (21,22).

Sleep disturbance is common and may be from pain or from the condition itself and should be managed (23,24). Often a small dose of a tricyclic antidepressant is helpful.

Fatigue and cognitive difficulties may be treated with stimulants such as methylphenidate and Modafinil and these are effective in about 30% of people (104,105).

Any concurrent depression should be offered a trial of appropriate antidepressants.

Physical and occupational therapy

Graded exercise therapy (GET) has been effective in managing some cases of ME/CFS though it remains controversial particularly among some sufferers. Pacing, where the patient exercises as much as possible within the constraints of their symptoms, is an alternative approach (106). GET has been removed from the recommendations for treatment of ME/CFS by the US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and health agencies in some other countries.

Stretching, yoga and Tai Chi have been used in many CCCs and in concurrent mental disorders with some effects.

Many chronic conditions decrease mobility and there may be adaptive and mobility devices to help (66,108).

Psychological, Somatic-Based, and Neurophysiological treatments

There are several treatments aimed at changing brain function through words, actions and thoughts.



a. Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT)

CBT is one of the most evidence-based therapies for patients with concurrent depression and anxiety associated with CCCs. In CBT, people are assessed for cognitive errors (distortions), maladaptive behavioural patterns, and socio-occupational and interpersonal impairments (109). The assessment of several other psychological factors that might be useful from the psychotherapy point of view include attribution style, coping skills, and perceived stress. Patients are guided through exercises to practice more adaptive thoughts and actions.

b. Mindfulness

Mindfulness refers to intentional, non-judgmental conscious awareness of the present moment (27). Mindfulness exercises are incorporated into many therapeutic interventions. One review found that mindfulness improves pain, depression symptoms, and quality of life in patients with chronic pain (28).

c. Somatic Psychotherapy

Somatic psychotherapies may be helpful when there is also a history of trauma. They are supported by Polyvagal Theory and have the underlying neurophysiological premise that some people suffer dysregulation of the autonomic nervous system (ANS). The ANS is responsible for neuroception – the ability to detect safety, danger, and life-threat. Dysregulation is evinced by maladaptive sympathetic activation of fight or flight and/or parasympathetic shutdown of freeze/collapse/submit/detach.

Somatic Experiencing® (SE®; www.traumahealing.org) and Sensorimotor Psychotherapy (www.sensorimotorpsychotherapy.org) - two leading somatic therapies - involve interoceptive and proprioceptive awareness and can include the imagined "playing out" of the successful resolution of an original traumatic experience. Rather than use re-exposure to the memory of the original trauma, or suppression of those memories (as in cognitive-focused therapies), somatic therapy is a re-working of the traumatic experience, on a felt, subcortical level (110,111).

d. Eye Movement Therapies

Eye movement therapies, such as Eye Movement Desensitization and Reprocessing (EMDR), modulate cognitive and emotionally painful aspects of traumatic experiences. As these facets are bound to the somatic experience of pain, EMDR can reduce or abolish the intensity of physical discomfort (112). Recognized eye movement modalities include EMDR, Eye Movement Integration (EMI), Observed & Experiential Integration (OEI), and Brainspotting.

Somatic psychotherapy and eye movement modalities use directed, conscious awareness to thoughts, feelings, emotions, sensations, images, impressions, and sounds to help to regulate the autonomic nervous system. Somatic psychotherapy focuses on the autonomic nervous system; the emotional motor system (113); portions of the basal ganglia, red nucleus, and periaqueductal gray matter involved in emotion-specific movements and postures which can occur outside voluntary cortical control; the reticular arousal systems (114,115); and the limbic system (116). These treatments have been used successfully in PTSD and have also been used for CCCs with or without concurrent PTSD (2,3,111,117-121).



e. Biofeedback and Neurofeedback

Biofeedback is a self-regulatory therapy that provides feedback on physiological systems. It is used to reduce sympathetic activation (stress response) and to increase parasympathetic activation (relaxation response) of the nervous system, with more conscious control over each response (29). Neurofeedback is a type of biofeedback, which teaches self-control of brain functions to subjects by measuring brain waves and providing a feedback signal. Neurofeedback methodology proposes that by teaching self-regulation, a patient can reduce or even eliminate pain sensations from chronic conditions. Studies suggest that the brain changes its functional organization at the level of the somatosensory cortex in chronic pain patients (30). Both biofeedback and neurofeedback have been helpful in CPSs especially those with concurrent PTSD (31).

Other treatments

There are some treatments that do not fit easily into the categories of medication, physical treatment, or psychological/psychiatric treatment. One example is surgery which has been used in combination with other treatments for Vulvodynia (58).

The possibility of the existence of therapeutic approaches unknown to the assessors must always be borne in mind. It is for an assessor to decide if they or the other assessor have sufficient expertise in the condition causing the patient's suffering that they are aware of all reasonable and available approaches to the relief of suffering; or whether instead consultation with a physician or nurse practitioner with that expertise might be necessary to determine if treatments not known to the two assessors might be available.

Financial and other barriers to treatment

Treatments that have been shown to be useful in some conditions, including CBT, somatic experience therapy, and intranasal ketamine, are not covered financially by most patient's provincial or private insurance and may be unavailable to them. In addition, access to some treatments may be difficult due to local issues of availability, for example in more rural areas. This may lead to the ethical dilemma of patients seeking MAiD instead of treatment they cannot afford (which might be effective) or which is difficult to access in their area. This is, of course, not a problem unique to patients who do not have an RFND; it has been an issue for some patients and their assessors since MAiD became legal for patients with an RFND in 2016. For example, a patient with an RFND who decides to choose MAiD because they are not able to access 24-hour home care making admission to a care facility their only other obvious option, one which they find unacceptable. However, in certain situations it may be appropriate for the assessors to suggest to the patient's family physician or specialist that efforts need to be made to secure treatment or support for the patient, especially if the assessment has revealed gaps in management. Referral to a social worker, to geriatric specialty services, or to palliative care may also need to be suggested.



Appendix C

Canadian Law

Canadian law on MAiD is contained within the *Criminal Code of Canada* as first amended in 2016 by *An Act to amend the Criminal Code and to make related amendments to other Acts (medical assistance in dying)* (usually called Bill C-14 or simply C-14) and then amended in 2021 by *An Act to amend the Criminal Code (medical assistance in dying)* (usually called Bill C-7 or simply C-7).

It should be noted that this Appendix only covers federal legislation. The province of Quebec has its own law on medical assistance in dying; clinicians in Quebec must act in accordance with both laws or, where they are inconsistent (as they are currently with respect to MAiD where mental disorder is the sole underlying medical condition), with instructions from their professional regulatory body and/or the director of criminal and penal prosecutions.

Eligibility for MAiD

Eligibility criteria

- 241.2 (1) A person may receive medical assistance in dying only if they meet all of the following criteria:
- (a) they are eligible or, but for any applicable minimum period of residence or waiting period, would be eligible for health services funded by a government in Canada;
- (b) they are at least 18 years of age and capable of making decisions with respect to their health;
- (c) they have a grievous and irremediable medical condition;
- (d) they have made a voluntary request for medical assistance in dying that, in particular, was not made as a result of external pressure; and
- (e) they give informed consent to receive medical assistance in dying after having been informed of the means that are available to relieve their suffering, including palliative care.

Grievous and irremediable medical condition

- (2) A person has a grievous and irremediable medical condition only if they meet all of the following criteria:
- (a) they have a serious and incurable illness, disease or disability;*
- (b) they are in an advanced state of irreversible decline in capability; and
- (c) that illness, disease, or disability or that state of decline causes them enduring physical or psychological suffering that is intolerable to them and that cannot be relieved under conditions that they consider acceptable.
- * For the purposes of this legislation, until the law changes, a mental illness is not considered to be an illness, disease, or disability.



It is important to note that that Bill C-7 removed one of the Bill C-14 eligibility criteria – that a person's natural death had to have become reasonably foreseeable. However, it retained the concept of reasonably foreseeable – it now serves as the determining factor as to which procedural safeguards the individual must meet.

Procedural safeguards

There are two different sets of procedural safeguards that apply to individuals depending on whether their natural death has become reasonably foreseeable or not.

Natural death reasonably foreseeable

For patients who meet the eligibility criteria set out above and whose natural death has become reasonably foreseeable, the following procedural safeguards must be met:

- (3) Before a medical practitioner or nurse practitioner provides a person with medical assistance in dying, the medical practitioner or nurse practitioner must
- (a) be of the opinion that the person meets all of the criteria set out in subsection (1);
- (b) ensure that the person's request for medical assistance in dying was
- (i) made in writing and signed and dated by the person or by another person under subsection (4), and
- (ii) signed and dated after the person was informed by a medical practitioner or nurse practitioner that the person has a grievous and irremediable medical condition;
- (c) be satisfied that the request was signed and dated by the person or by another person under subsection (4) before an independent witness who then also signed and dated the request;
- (d) ensure that the person has been informed that they may, at any time and in any manner, withdraw their request;
- (e) ensure that another medical practitioner or nurse practitioner has provided a written opinion confirming that the person meets all of the criteria set out in subsection (1):
- (f) be satisfied that they and the other medical practitioner or nurse practitioner referred to in paragraph (e) are independent;
- (g) if the person has difficulty communicating, take all necessary measures to provide a reliable means by which the person may understand the information that is provided to them and communicate their decision; and
- (h) immediately before providing the medical assistance in dying, give the person an opportunity to withdraw their request and ensure that the person gives express consent to receive medical assistance in dying.*
- * This requirement does not need to be met if the conditions set out in the provisions regarding final consent waiver [section (3.2)] or advance consent self-administration [section (3.5)] are met.

Natural death NOT reasonably foreseeable

For patients who meet the eligibility criteria set out above and whose natural death has not become reasonably foreseeable, the following procedural safeguards must be met*:

- (3.1) Before a medical practitioner or nurse practitioner provides medical assistance in dying to a person whose natural death is not reasonably foreseeable, taking into account all of their medical circumstances, the medical practitioner or nurse practitioner must
- (a) be of the opinion that the person meets all of the criteria set out in subsection (1);

- (b) ensure that the person's request for medical assistance in dying was
- (i) made in writing and signed and dated by the person or by another person under subsection (4), and
- (ii) signed and dated after the person was informed by a medical practitioner or nurse practitioner that the person has a grievous and irremediable medical condition:
- (c) be satisfied that the request was signed and dated by the person or by another person under subsection (4) before an independent witness who then also signed and dated the request:
- (d) ensure that the person has been informed that the person may, at any time and in any manner, withdraw their request;
- (e) ensure that another medical practitioner or nurse practitioner has provided a written opinion confirming that the person meets all of the criteria set out in subsection (1);
- (e.1) if neither they nor the other medical practitioner or nurse practitioner referred to in paragraph (e) has expertise in the condition that is causing the person's suffering, ensure that they or the medical practitioner or nurse practitioner referred to in paragraph (e) consult with a medical practitioner or nurse practitioner who has that expertise and share the results of that consultation with the other practitioner;
- (f) be satisfied that they and the medical practitioner or nurse practitioner referred to in paragraph (e) are independent;
- (g) ensure that the person has been informed of the means available to relieve their suffering, including, where appropriate, counselling services, mental health and disability support services, community services and palliative care and has been offered consultations with relevant professionals who provide those services or that care;
- (h) ensure that they and the medical practitioner or nurse practitioner referred to in paragraph (e) have discussed with the person the reasonable and available means to relieve the person's suffering and they and the medical practitioner or nurse practitioner referred to in paragraph (e) agree with the person that the person has given serious consideration to those means;
- (i) ensure that there are at least 90 clear days between the day on which the first assessment under this subsection of whether the person meets the criteria set out in subsection (1) begins and the day on which medical assistance in dying is provided to them or if the assessments have been completed and they and the medical practitioner or nurse practitioner referred to in paragraph (e) are both of the opinion that the loss of the person's capacity to provide consent to receive medical assistance in dying is imminent any shorter period that the first medical practitioner or nurse practitioner considers appropriate in the circumstances;
- (j) if the person has difficulty communicating, take all necessary measures to provide a reliable means by which the person may understand the information that is provided to them and communicate their decision; and
- (k) immediately before providing the medical assistance in dying, give the person an opportunity to withdraw their request and ensure that the person gives express consent to receive medical assistance in dying.**
- * Safeguards in bold font are new for MAiD in Canada
- ** This requirement does not need to be met if the conditions set out in the provisions re: advance consent self-administration [section (3.5)] are met.



Interpretations of key provisions of current Canadian law on MAiD

There has been confusion and controversy over the meaning of some of the key provisions in Canada's MAiD law.

There have not been any judicial interpretations of any of the terms other than "reasonably foreseeable." When there is no judicial interpretation available, clinicians must look to their regulators and experts. In this section, we identify first judicial interpretations (where they exist), then those from regulators (where they exist), and then interpretations from groups of experts. The first expert group (the Halifax Group) consisted of 15 independent experts drawn from academia, the law, MAiD clinicians, provincial and territorial regulators, and individuals who hold senior posts within professional representative organizations (though present in an individual capacity) (122). The second (the Federal Expert Panel on MAiD and Mental Illness) consisted of members reflecting "a range of disciplines and perspectives, including clinical psychiatry, MAID assessment and provision, law, ethics, health professional training and regulation, mental health care services, as well as lived experience with mental illness" (127). The third (the MAiD Practice Standard Task Group) consisted of individuals drawn from clinical psychiatry, MAiD assessment and provision, law, ethics, and health professional training and regulation (128). Note: The MAiD Practice Standard Task Group content is in italics to emphasize the fact that it is from a draft version. It will be replaced with the final version once available.

Incurable

1. Court

Not litigated.

2. Regulators

An Inquiry Committee for the College of Physicians and Surgeons of British Columbia (CPSBC) found that BC physicians who conclude that a patient's condition is incurable even though the patient has declined a potentially effective treatment, will not be in breach of the College's standard (123).

3. Expert groups

Halifax Group

"Incurable" means that, in the professional opinion of the medical or nurse practitioner, the person cannot be cured by means acceptable to that person. This does not mean that the professional opinion substitutes for the person's assessment of whether the means are acceptable; rather it means that professional opinion holds that there are no clinical options that would accord with the person's own assessment of acceptable means (122).

Federal Expert Panel on MAiD and Mental Illness

MAiD assessors should establish incurability with reference to treatment attempts made up to that point, outcomes of those treatments, and severity and duration of illness, disease, or disability.

It is not possible to provide fixed rules for how many treatment attempts, how many kinds of treatments, and over what period of time as this will vary according to the nature and severity of medical conditions the person has and their overall health status. This must be assessed on a case-by-case basis.



The Panel is of the view that the requester and assessors must come to a shared understanding that the person has a serious and incurable illness, disease, or disability. As with many chronic conditions, the incurability of a mental disorder cannot be established in the absence of multiple attempts at interventions with therapeutic aims (127).

MAiD Practice Standard Task Group

When there is uncertainty in the natural history of the illness, disease or disability (typically complex Track Two cases), incurability cannot be established in the absence of multiple attempts at interventions with therapeutic aims. In such circumstances, MAiD Providers and Assessors should establish incurability with reference to treatment attempts made prior to the request, outcomes of those treatments, and severity and duration of illness, disease, or disability. (Footnote: The number of treatment attempts, the treatment modalities, and the duration of treatment required to establish incurability will vary according to the nature and severity of medical conditions the person has and their overall health status. Therefore, this must be assessed on a case-by-case basis.)

A person who requests MAiD may believe that they have a serious and incurable illness, disease, or disability. However, it is the Provider and Assessor who must be of the opinion that the person has a serious and incurable illness, disease or disability (128).

Advanced state of irreversible decline in capability

1. Court

Not litigated.

2. Regulators

No professional standards or committees of inquiry have addressed this.

3. Expert groups

Halifax Group

"Advanced state of irreversible decline in capability" includes declines in cognitive as well as physical functions; sudden as well as gradual losses of capability; and ongoing as well as stabilized declines in capability. It is assessed by the medical or nurse practitioner, and it is assessed relative to the patient's prior capability (122).

Federal Expert Panel on MAiD and Mental Illness

MAiD assessors should establish irreversibility with reference to interventions tried that are designed to improve function, including: recognized rehabilitative and supportive measures that have been tried up to that point, outcomes of those interventions, and the duration of decline.

It is not possible to provide fixed rules for how many attempts at interventions, how many types of interventions, and over how much time, as this will vary according to a requester's baseline function as well as life goals. Therefore, this must be assessed on a case-by-case basis.

The Panel is of the view that the requester and assessors must come to a shared understanding that the person is in an advanced state of irreversible decline in capability (127).



MAiD Practice Standard Task Group

When there is uncertainty about the evolution of functional status (typically complex Track Two cases), irreversibility cannot be established in the absence of multiple attempts at treatment and rehabilitation. In such circumstances, MAiD Providers and Assessors should determine irreversibility with reference to interventions tried that are designed to improve function, including: recognized rehabilitative and/or supportive measures that have been tried prior to the request, the outcomes of those interventions, and the duration of decline. (Footnote: The number of intervention attempts, the modalities used, and the duration required to establish an advanced state of irreversible decline will vary according to a person's baseline function as well as life goals. Therefore, this must be assessed on a case-by-case basis.)

Functional status should be assessed independently of incurable illness, disease or disability related symptoms. (Footnote: Persons may experience chronic symptoms of an illness, disease or disability but have potential for functional improvement or recovery when they receive appropriate rehabilitative and/or supportive measures including housing, social and income support programs.)

A person who requests MAiD may believe that they are in an advanced state of irreversible decline in capability. However, it is the Provider and Assessor who must be of the opinion that the person is in an advanced state of irreversible decline in capability (128).

Intolerable

1. Court

Not litigated

2. Regulators

No professional standards or committees of inquiry have addressed this.

3. Expert groups

Halifax Group

"[I]ntolerable to them" means extreme, in the opinion of the patient (124).

Federal Expert Panel on MAiD and Mental Illness

MAiD assessors should come to an understanding with the requester that the illness, disease or disability or functional decline causes the requester enduring and intolerable physical or psychological suffering.

The third element of the definition of grievous and irremediable medical condition refers to the suffering experienced by a MAiD requester and states: "that illness, disease or disability or that state of decline causes them enduring physical or psychological suffering that is intolerable to them and that cannot be relieved under conditions that they consider acceptable" (129). Suffering is a personal experience, and this part of the definition also indicates that it is subjective.

A person's interpretations of the persistence and permanence of their suffering resulting in a request for MAiD should reflect a realistic appraisal of their situation.

The second part of the suffering sub-criterion is that the requester's suffering cannot be relieved under conditions they consider acceptable. Consistent with existing laws and norms concerning



consent and capacity, capable persons are usually entitled to refuse interventions they do not wish to receive (Gilmour, 2017; Robertson, 2017, pp. 53-58).

MAiD Practice Standard Task Group

For the purposes of forming the opinion that the suffering criterion for MAiD is met, Providers and Assessors:

- must be of the opinion that it is the person's illness, disease or disability or state of decline
 in capability that is the cause of the person's suffering;
- must respect that "suffering" under the Criminal Code is subjective; and
- should explore the consistency of the person's assessment of their suffering with the person's affect, expressed wishes over time, and life narrative (128)

Reasonably foreseeable

1. Court

In 2017, the Ontario Superior Court of Justice heard the case of the applicant AB who wished to establish that her own natural death was reasonably foreseeable (required to be eligible for MAiD under C-14 which was in force at the time) (124). The trial judge, Justice Perell, stated in his decision:

- "[77] The application before the court is not about interpreting what it means for a medical practitioner "to be of the opinion that the person meets all of the criteria." Rather, the application arises because Physician-1 is uncertain about the meaning of "natural death has become reasonably foreseeable" in s. 241.2 (2)(d).
- [78] There is and there ought not to be any uncertainty or misunderstanding about the meaning of those words.
- [79] In this regard, those words are modified by the phrase "taking into account all of their medical circumstances, without a prognosis necessarily having been made as to the specific length of time that they have remaining." This language reveals that natural death need not be imminent and that what is a reasonably foreseeable death is a person-specific medical question to be made without necessarily making, but not necessarily precluding, a prognosis of the remaining lifespan.
- [80] Although it is impossible to imagine that the exercise of professional knowledge and judgment will ever be easy, in those cases where a prognosis can be made that death is imminent, then it may be easier to say that the natural death is reasonably foreseeable. Physicians, of course, have considerable experience in making a prognosis, but the legislation makes it clear that in formulating an opinion, the physician need not opine about the specific length of time that the person requesting medical assistance in dying has remaining in his or her lifetime.
- [81] In referring to a "natural death" the language denotes that the death is one arising from causes associated with natural causes; i.e., the language reveals that the foreseeability of the death must be connected to natural causes, which is to say about causes associated with the functioning or malfunctioning of the human body. These are matters at the core if not the whole corpus of medical knowledge and better known to doctors than to judges. The language reveals that the natural death need not be connected



to a particular terminal disease or condition and rather is connected to all of a particular person's medical circumstances.

- [82] The Attorney General, in introducing Bill C-14, described the meaning of the words in s. 241.2 (2)(d), and in my opinion, she correctly said that the language does not require that people be dying from a terminal illness, disease or disability.
- [83] As the Attorney General said, the language of s. 241.2 (2)(d) encompasses, on a case-by-case basis, a person who is on a trajectory toward death because he or she: (a) has a serious and incurable illness, disease or disability; (b) is in an advanced state of irreversible decline in capability; and (c) is enduring physical or psychological suffering that is intolerable and that cannot be relieved under conditions that they consider acceptable.
- [84] These criteria or factors are all matters with which Physician-1 and all physicians are, on an everyday basis, capable of forming opinions on. Physician-1 and all other physicians are equally capable of determining whether the criteria or factors are not satisfied because a natural death is not reasonably foreseeable.
- [85] During 2015-2016 in the run up to the enactment of Bill 14, some of these factors or criteria were considered in the case law about what was formerly described as physician-assisted death and what is now described as medical assistance in dying. In A.B. v. Canada (Attorney General), 2016 ONSC 1912 and in I.J. v. Canada (Attorney General), 2016 ONSC 3380, I held that a grievous medical condition connotes that the person's medical condition greatly or enormously interferes with the quality of that person's life. In I.J. v. Canada (Attorney General), supra, I held that in determining whether a person satisfies the criteria for a physician-assisted death, the proximity or remoteness of death and the duration of suffering are relevant factors that must be considered in the unique and special circumstances of any applicant. In Canada (Attorney General) v. E.F., 2016 ABCA 155, the Alberta Court of Appeal held that the constitutional exemption granted in Carter v. Canada (Attorney General) (124), does not require the applicant's medical condition to be terminal."

A definition of "reasonably foreseeable" was also provided to the BC Supreme Court by an expert who appeared for the Attorney General of Canada during the initial stages of the case of Lamb v. Canada. The Attorney General of Canada accepted this interpretation. Dr. Madeline Li said that Julia Lamb would meet the "reasonably foreseeable" criterion because:

If Ms. Lamb were to be assessed now, and she indicated an intent to stop BiPaP [a machine similar to a CPAP machine, which helps a person breathe better while sleeping] and refuse treatment when she next developed pneumonia, it is likely that she would be found to meet the threshold for having a reasonably foreseeable natural death ... She would not be required to develop an episode of pneumonia before being approved for MAiD. Most would consider it sufficient that she expresses certain intent to refuse treatment when this occurs, as she will inevitably develop a chest infection in the near future.

In other words, to meet the "reasonably foreseeable" criterion, all Julia Lamb had to do was express certain intent to stop preventive care and refuse treatment for the inevitable ensuing infection. Thus, it can be concluded that patients can meet the "reasonably foreseeable" criterion if they have demonstrated a clear intent to take steps to make their natural death happen soon or to cause their death to be predictable (125).

2. Regulators

- a. College of Physicians and Surgeons of Nova Scotia
 - 13.15 "Reasonably Foreseeable" means that:
 - (a) "natural death need not be imminent and that what is a reasonably foreseeable death is a person-specific medical question to be made without necessarily making, but not necessarily precluding, a prognosis of the remaining lifespan".
 - (b) In formulating an opinion, the physician need not opine about the specific length of time that the person requesting medical assistance in dying has remaining in his or her lifetime (126).
- b. College of Physicians and Surgeons of British Columbia (CPSBC)

An Inquiry Committee for the CPSBC found that it was not a breach of the College standard to find a patient's natural death reasonably foreseeable on the grounds that she had stopped eating and drinking (123). (The patient had advanced multiple sclerosis).

3. Expert groups

Halifax Group

"Natural death has become reasonably foreseeable" does not mean that eligibility is limited to fatal conditions, that the person is "terminally ill" or "at the end of life", or that death is imminent or anticipated within six months. Temporal proximity - the nearness of natural death - can be sufficient for concluding that natural death is reasonably foreseeable. However, temporal proximity is not necessary for reasonable foreseeability. Indeed, it is not necessary for the medical or nurse practitioner to have predicted or to be able to predict the length of time the patient has remaining. Similarly, a predictable cause of natural death can also be a sufficient condition for concluding that natural death is reasonably foreseeable, but it is also not necessary for reaching this conclusion. In other words, natural death will be reasonably foreseeable if either condition exists - a predicted death in "a period of time that is not too remote" or a predictable cause of natural death - but it is not necessary for both conditions to exist for the patient to meet this eligibility criterion" (122).

* Note this interpretation was developed before the *Lamb* case. It is not known whether this expert group would have added "certain intent to stop preventive care" to the definition of "natural death has become reasonably foreseeable."

Canadian Association of MAiD Assessors and Providers (CAMAP)

According to the CAMAP guidance document (https://camapcanada.ca/):

- 1. Clinicians may interpret "reasonably foreseeable" as meaning "reasonably predictable". This may mean that there is sufficient temporal proximity to death (it is coming soon), and/or that the trajectory towards death is predictable from the person's combination of known medical conditions and potential sequelae. In clinical circumstances this would include the consideration of a person's individual circumstances such as age and frailty.
- 2. Clinicians need not employ or support rigid timeframes in their determination of whether a person has a reasonably foreseeable natural death (RFND). The law does not require a prognosis to be given as to the length of time the person has remaining. For greater clarity, "natural death



has become reasonably foreseeable" does not mean that the person must be terminally ill or expected to die within a set period such as 6 or 12 months.

3. A person may meet the "reasonably foreseeable" criterion if they have demonstrated a clear and serious intent to take steps to make their natural death happen soon or to cause their death to be predictable. Examples might include stated declarations to refuse antibiotic treatment of current or future serious infection, to stop use of oxygen therapy, to refuse turning if they have quadriplegia, or to voluntarily cease eating and drinking.

Federal Expert Panel on MAiD and Mental Illness

Not addressed.

MAiD Practice Standard Task Group

References AB decision and CAMAP guidance document (see above).

The implications of the recent changes to Canada's MAiD law for CCCs

Two issues will be of great significance in determining the implications of the recent changes to Canada's MAiD law for CCCs.

First, whether CCCs are considered a "mental illness" for the purposes of the Criminal Code (affecting eligibility). Second, whether, for the person with CCC, natural death has become reasonably foreseeable (affecting which procedural safeguards must be met).

1. Temporary (until unknown date) "mental illness" exclusion

There is a lack of consensus among experts as to whether CCCs are psychiatric or neurobiological in origin. There is additionally a lack of consensus as to whether that distinction even exists. The law does not define "mental illness" although it is clear that not everything in the DSM-5 is to be considered a "mental illness" for the purposes of excluding individuals from MAiD eligibility. The Legislative Background document to Bill C-7 provided some clarification:

Despite the absence of a single clear definition of mental illness, in the context of Canadian discussions on MAiD, this term has come to be understood as generally referring to those conditions which are primarily within the domain of psychiatry, and which raise specific types of concerns as set out above [e.g., disagreements about irremediability, challenges with capacity assessments, difficulties establishing the trajectory of a condition], when it comes to eligibility for MAiD. In the context of the federal MAiD legislation, the term "mental illness" would not include neurocognitive or neurodevelopmental disorders, or other conditions that may affect cognitive abilities, such as dementias, autism spectrum disorders or intellectual disabilities, which may be treated by specialties other than psychiatry (such as neurology for neurodegenerative or neurodevelopmental conditions) or specialties outside of medicine (such as education specialists for intellectual disabilities) and do not raise the specific concerns outlined above (1).

Bearing this in mind it is up to the judgement of assessors to determine on a case-by-case basis, whether the person's **sole** underlying serious and incurable condition is a mental illness. If the assessors are of the opinion that it is, then the person must be found to be ineligible (until the law changes). If they are of the opinion that it is not, then the person may be found to be eligible (contingent on meeting the other eligibility criteria).

2. Removal of "reasonably foreseeable" as eligibility criterion

People with CCCs will no longer face the potential eligibility barrier of the requirement that their natural death be reasonably foreseeable.

That said, reasonable foreseeability will remain as the variable that determines which procedural safeguards track the person must follow (see above).